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CHAIRMAN’S STATEMENT
Through the continuing commitment and energy of all staff
and contractors, there have been a great many advances
during the past year. These milestones continue to pave
the way for the implementation of Fortescue’s Pilbara
Iron Ore and Infrastructure Project. The culmination of all
this work was the successful capital raising of over A$3.2
billion in August 2006 which has established the broad
ﬁnancial base to take the project through construction and
well into production.
Progress has been substantial across many project fronts
from the completion of the Mining Deﬁnitive Feasibility
Study, the determination of the Control Estimate Cost for
port and rail infrastructure through to the commencement
of works at the port site at Port Hedland in February 2006.
Of equal importance has been the attention directed toward
Fortescue’s product development program where extensive
product testing has been undertaken by both steel mills
and various other independent research bodies.
While the large scale and diverse nature of Fortescue’s
project may be daunting to some, each component part is
driven by the basic business principle of increasing demand.
Markets need more iron ore and the Pilbara needs an open
access port and rail infrastructure provider.
In the context of world demand, the timing of Fortescue’s
project coincides with highly favourable market conditions
characterised by the continued strengthening of iron ore
demand. The prices paid on the international iron ore
market have increased by over 100% since 2004. Given
that steel is the basic building block of urbanisation and
given that one tonne of steel requires c.1.6 tonnes of iron
ore, the strong growth rates being experienced in Asia, and
China in particular, is driving the market.
The economic phenomenon occurring at Australia’s
doorstep, presents an unique opportunity for mineral
commodity suppliers. The fact that Fortescue has a
tenement foothold of some 35,500km2 within the Pilbara
region – an area widely regarded as one of the world’s
richest mineral provinces – gives your Company an
extraordinary platform for growth.
The development of a bulk commodity mining operation
in isolation of a related product transport and handling
infrastructure, is not practical in the Pilbara. There are
many mineral prospective sites within the Pilbara that are
effectively land locked from markets. Fortescue is seeking
to change this with the introduction of the Pilbara’s ﬁrst
open access integrated port and rail network. It is your
Company’s ambition to provide services to both its own
mining operation together with those of other mining
companies that we believe will ﬂourish in the region once
transport options become available.
While these external factors are driving the Company’s
plans, it is the ability and willingness of individuals to
make it happen that truly underwrites a project. With this
in mind, I am very encouraged by the growth of employee
numbers and the development of an integrated working
environment with our key project partners WorleyParsons

and Roche Mining. Under the working banner of Team 45
and with a collective of some 350 people, employees from
Fortescue, WorleyParsons and Roche Mining are now
working at one location in our new premises in East Perth
to bring the project to fruition.
Fortescue strives to be an employer of choice and to offer
people a chance to grow and ﬂourish with the Company.
The ability to develop talented people within a “green ﬁelds”
environment is a unique opportunity not afforded to many
companies. This also comes with a clear responsibility to
ensure there are strong procedures and cultures developed
to facilitate such development. The continuing reﬁnement
of Fortescue’s corporate governance and human resources
practices reﬂects the Boards’ desire to drive this process
and to ensure an appropriate framework exists to guide
the Company and its employees.
An extension of this responsibility is Fortescue’s
determination to provide safe working conditions. It is very
pleasing to report that there have been no serious safety
issues or events over the life of the project and the Board
is focused on the need to develop a safe working culture at
all levels of the Company.
In conclusion, I would like to thank all stakeholders for
their commitment in helping bring this project to fruition.
To my fellow Directors and staff at Fortescue, I would like
to express my sincere appreciation for their extraordinary
efforts. We have created, what I think will be judged by
history as one of the greatest resource projects ever
undertaken in Australia. A special thanks must go to
our Chief Executive, Mr Andrew Forrest. He created
and nurtured the vision. He has assembled a ﬁrst class
management team and has lead it in giving substance to
the vision and in achieving the considerable objectives
set by the Company. With Andrew’s vision and under his
stewardship, the performance of Fortescue has outstripped
that of any company in the resources sector. Andrew has
been working for a nominal salary since the Company ﬁrst
began some years ago. While we are very grateful for this
demonstrated dedication and commitment, the Board
now feels it must, in the coming months, consider an
appropriate compensation for Andrew to both reward and
retain his services. These are exciting times for all involved
and I know that the Company’s continuing engagement
at all levels of industry, community and government will
maintain the momentum of the great enterprise created
to date.
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CEO’S STATEMENT

CHIEF EXECUTIVE
OFFICER’S STATEMENT
The commencement of
construction in February
this year created strong
momentum for the ﬁnancing
and implementation of the
group’s massive Iron Ore
and Infrastructure Project.
To start from scratch and
move the Company to
that point and beyond has
given your team enormous
satisfaction. Combined with
the continuing momentum
of the international steel
industry, Fortescue’s inexorable march to become a
major new force in the supply of iron ore is nearing
journey’s end as our port, mine and rail plans swing into
full construction.

Following the delineation of such a large reserve
estimate, Fortescue, in association with its
independent mining consultant Snowden Mining
Industry Consultants, (“Snowden”) completed the
Mining Definitive Feasibility Study which demonstrated
how this reserve could be commercially exploited to
facilitate the 20+ year production profile.

Global circumstances aligned to create an extraordinary
opportunity to pursue a development of this scale and
nature. The following breakdown of the key project parts
is provided as a concise overview of the progress made by
your team in their respective areas of responsibility and
how they together form the integrated components of the
Company’s development plan.

The Cloud Break and Christmas Creek mining leases
are contained across an area of approximately 770km2
and comprise largely Marra Mamba ore from within the
Nammuldi member of the Hamersley Province. Beyond
the initial mine life, the second stage exploration
objective is to develop other prospective areas within
Fortescue’s broader Pilbara tenement portfolio of over
35,000km2.

RESERVE AND RESOURCE
DELINEATION
The long term success of Fortescue’s project will be
greatly influenced by the quantity and quality of its
mineral reserve and resource portfolio. Management’s
first stage exploration objective was to define a
quantity of iron ore that would facilitate a mine plan
for a minimum of 20 years at the initial production
target of 45 million tonnes per annum. This in turn
would create the necessary scale to underwrite the
required port and rail infrastructure investment to
move product from the Company’s newly discovered
mine sites within the Chichester Range to its ship
loading facilities at Anderson Point and onto world
markets.
To date, Fortescue has estimated a reserve of 1,053
million tonnes which was drawn from a resource pool
of 2,265 million tonnes - all reserves and resources
are reported in accordance with the JORC code. The
exploration program to provide this has been extensive
with over 9,000 holes drilled for the production of over
370km of sample. Over the 2 year term of the program,
Fortescue was consistently rated by Intierra Resource
Information as being the largest spending exploration
company of any listed Australian exploration group.

Management set a target of having the ﬁrst three years
of production scheduled within a reserve estimate
accorded the highest JORC classiﬁcation of proved
reserve. This was achieved in April 2006 when the
Company announced a proved reserve estimate of 121
million tonnes. The balance of the reserve estimate
pursuant to the mine plan is classiﬁed as a probable
reserve of 932 million tonnes and this will provide
further material for upgrade studies as the project
advances.

Fortescue is developing a portfolio of new exploration
targets across its tenement holdings. These will provide
for the next generation of mine sites to ensure the
Company’s longevity and production capacity extends
well beyond the initial mining operation. The current
resource, together with available extensions and new
targets, should comfortably provide a basis for a 100
million tonnes per annum operation and that study is
well under way.
While noting the success of new discoveries, it is equally
gratifying to note that the program has been conducted
within a very safe working environment. To date, the lost
time injury (“LTI”) count for exploration and mining is
only 8 out of 680,000 man hours, well below the mining
industry average. The Company continues its efforts to
reach the target of no injuries within its work force.

“NEW EXPLORATION
TARGETS WILL
PROVIDE THE NEXT
GENERATION OF
MINE SITES”
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PRODUCT QUALITY
Establishing the quality of the reserve is equally as
important as the quantity. Fortescue’s metallurgical
team has been focused on ensuring that it has a deep
understanding of both the chemical and physical
properties of the Company’s ore body. Product samples
have been sent to a number of internationally recognised
pilot scale testing facilities in Australia, Europe and
China, as well as to some 20 steel mills in China, Japan
and Korea.
The basis of the test work has been to determine how
the product will perform within the iron making process.
Through such testing, the Company has developed an
extensive data bank of the ore’s characteristics which
then enables the development of a product blend that will
provide deﬁnable beneﬁts to the steel mills.
Headed by Dr John Clout, the team has drawn on
representative samples of the ore body from numerous
sites across both the Cloud Break and Christmas Creek
deposits. The test work program has been ongoing for
approximately 18 months with samples provided from
the bulk sampling and diamond core drilling programs
at Christmas Creek and Cloud Break. Further material
was then derived from the trial mining program at Cloud
Break which concluded in early 2006 with the extraction
of some 45,000 tonnes of ore.
Having sourced material from right across the ore body,
the next stage of the test program has been to develop
a representative product type. Fortescue is building
its marketing program around Marra Mamba products
described as High Grade lump (~61% Fe) and ﬁnes
(~60% Fe) and Super Value ﬁnes (~59% Fe). The team
has established the lump to ﬁnes ratio of the high grade
through extensive testing in a drop tower that simulates
the treatment of the ore from mining through to on-board
ship.

been extensively trialed. Such performance measures
are a combination of both the chemical, physical
and metallurgical properties of the ore noting that
steel makers generally use a blend of between 6 - 10
different ore types as the feed stock to the sintering
process and the blast furnace. The ingredients of the
feed are chosen to deliver speciﬁc sinter characteristics
from chemical grade through to production rates,
physical strength, metallurgical properties and fuel
consumption. Fortescue has provided approximately
20 mills with samples of product to enable them to
determine how the Company’s product will perform
within the mills particular blend. The Fortescue ﬁnes
products have been established by internationally
recognised independent test facilities and steel mills
to perform similar to, or at the upper end, of Marra
Mamba ﬁnes exported from Australia. The Fortescue
lump has been established to have similar physical and
metallurgical properties to other Marra Mamba lump
products.

MINING
The completion of the Mining Deﬁnitive Feasibility
Study in April 2006 marked an important advance
for the project, as it deﬁned the mining schedule and
ramp up to Fortescue’s targeted initial production of 45
million tonnes per annum. The study also conﬁrmed
the operating cash costs which incorporated the use
of surface miners and bucket wheel excavators within
an innovative mining program. Fortescue is now in full
scale implementation of that plan while continuing to
search for further optimisations.

The chemical properties of the product types are well
understood by Fortescue. The target Fe grades are
within existing product types currently exported from
Australia and importantly, are low in contaminants such
as phosphorous. While noting the initial development of
Australia’s iron ore industry was around the high grade
Brockman ores, this is not representative of the current
industry position, nor of its certain future. There has been
an increasing trend toward lower Fe ore types including
Marra Mamba and Channel Iron Deposits (e.g. Yandi).
These ores account for a high proportion of the iron ore
exported from Australia as they perform well through the
iron making process and are in much greater supply than
the ever diminishing low phosphorous Brockman ores.

The mining study was conducted by Snowden which
was retained by Fortescue as an independent mining
expert. Much of the information contained in the report
was generated from the trial mining program conducted
at Cloud Break in late 2005. The surface miner was
extensively trialed to evaluate its performance in terms
of efﬁciency, cost and production capability. Fortescue
believes that the fractured nature of its Marra Mamba
mineralisation together with the gently dipping
horizontal orientation of the ore body lends itself to
the adoption of this style of ore extraction. Beneﬁts
provided by the mining system include the elimination
of drilling and blasting within the ore zone, the
elimination of the need for primary crushing, improved
grade control through more precise mining operations
and the potential for an improved lump to ﬁnes ratio.

The ores that perform well in the blast furnace and
have low impurities except water have high “value in
use”. Fortescue and its customer base have established
that Fortescue’s ores are high value in use ores. The
performance of Fortescue ores through sintering feed
preparation and blast furnace iron making process, have

The fundamental determinant of mining cost is the
ability to move material efﬁciently. The two key variables
in this equation are the quantity and nature of the over
burden. This is effectively the waste material that
sits above the ore zone which must be excavated and
moved to expose the marketable iron ore. In relation to
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Fortescue’s Cloud Break and Christmas Creek deposits,
the overburden is relatively friable as it is detrital in
nature and classiﬁed as “free diggable”. The excavation
of this has been tested for the use of bucket wheel
machinery which facilitates a cost effective method
of stripping the waste material. Also, the Fortescue
deposits have comparatively thin overburden (i.e. waste)
which results in a relatively low stripping ratio - being
the quantity of waste to marketable ore.
An independent study recently conducted by CRU
comparing Fortescue’s cash mining cost per tonne
(as calculated under the Snowden study) relative to
other industry players, placed the Company in the
lowest cost curve quartile. The factors facilitating
this are, as discussed above, being the combination
of attractive physical ore properties together with the
application of latest mine programming technology
and mine equipment innovation. Fortescue believes
that its longevity is fundamentally linked to its position
as a low cost producer. The current record commodity
prices will most likely moderate in due course and the
ability to prosper in a lower margin environment will be
greatly enhanced for those mining operations that have
optimised their economies of scale and minimised their
cost proﬁles.
A further important development during the year for the
mining team was the establishment of a joint venture
with Roche Mining. The JV is known as the Pilbara
Mining Alliance (“PMA”) and will enable both parties
to leverage the collective expertise and resources
of the group for the direct beneﬁt of the mining
operation. Roche has a long established contract
mining business which includes a number of alliance
JVs across Australia. Roche is part of the Downer EDI
group of which a number of subsidiaries have been
closely associated with the Fortescue project. Roche
conducted metallurgical tests and Snowden undertook
the mining study. Accordingly, the choice of Roche as
a project partner was a natural ﬁt. Already the PMA
mining team is actively engaged in developing plans for
the commencement of operations in 2007.

“MARKETING HAS
SECURED LONG
TERM OFF TAKE
CONTRACTS FOR
39.5 MTPA”
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Continuing strong demand for iron ore, particularly from
Chinese steel mills, underpinned a further increase to the
long term contract price for iron ore announced earlier
this calendar year. China continues to be the main driver
of global demand with imports increasing some 32% to
275 million tonnes during 2005. The annualised growth
rate recorded during the ﬁrst half of 2006 of around 60
million tonnes in China alone, exceeds the forecast of the
internationally respected commodity research company
CRU, that estimates that a new “Fortescue scale” project
needs to be added each and every year to meet the forecast
of 2 billion tonnes of global iron ore demand in 2015 rising
to 2.275 billion tonnes in 2020.
Fortescue’s high value in use ores have proven in
independent tests to be very competitive in productivity
and blend capability with competitor Marra Mamba ores
from the Pilbara, which already sell in signiﬁcant volumes
to China and elsewhere in Asia.
Fortescue’s primary marketing strategy has been to
leverage the super cycle of economic growth in China. In
2003, Fortescue foreshadowed that a signiﬁcant majority
of Fortescue iron ore off-take agreements would be signed
with Chinese mills. The Chinese steel industry is the major
growth engine in the world market and most especially the
Asian market and is the closest and therefore the most
attractive to Australian iron ore suppliers. Fortescue has
and will continue to forge close relationships with the end
users of iron ore – the major iron and steel producers.
In light of the super cycle in the world’s largest iron ore
market of China, the Fortescue marketing effort has to
date secured 28 contracts for 39.5 million tonnes per
annum of long term off take agreements or almost 90%
of the proposed initial annual production of its High Grade
and Super Value products. This has been achieved at
no price discount to products in the market similar to
our grade of Marra Mamba ore. The mills which have
been successfully targeted by Fortescue were carefully
selected for their reliability, reputation and longevity.
Fortescue’s secondary marketing and sales target has
been the major non-Chinese Asian steel mills. Excellent
progress in testing our iron ore for suitability has recently
been made with pre-eminent mills in Japan and Korea.
This program is designed to establish contracts from a
number of major non-Chinese mills over the near term.
The more established mills of Japan and Korea have
deﬁned policies and procedures in place for dealing with
new suppliers and new iron ore products. These involve
extensive and lengthy step-by-step testing of ores followed
at a later stage by formal commercial negotiations.
Fortescue is currently at an advanced stage with the most
reputable Asian mills.
The customer support for a New Force in Iron Ore has
been strong and has encouraged Fortescue to continue
studies of a future staged expansion to 100 million tonnes
per annum.

PORT AND RAIL INFRASTRUCTURE

GOVERNMENT APPROVALS

The development of the port and rail hub within the heart of
the Pilbara Region - one of the world’s richest bulk mineral
provinces - will create an extraordinary platform for long
term development. This opportunity is further accentuated
by being located on the door step of the world’s emerging
economic powerhouse in China.

The strong support of both State and Federal
Governments has been fundamental to the progression
through the statutory approvals process.

Since the completion of the port and rail deﬁnitive feasibility
study (“DFS”) in August 2005, Fortescue has advanced
the implementation of its development and construction
plans. The ﬁrst stage in this program was to complete a
more detailed costing schedule which was concluded in
March 2006 with the production of the control estimate.
This estimate was the result of a detailed engineering and
design program that followed the DFS which ultimately
allowed for the tendering of contracts for the various
project parts. The control estimate capital cost of A$1.92
billion was released in April 2006 and the ﬁrst contract
award was to Mine Site Construction Services in January
2006 for the initial earthworks at the port in preparation
for dredging.
Work commenced at the port site in February 2006
and was celebrated by a “ground breaking” ceremony
at Port Hedland with Cathy Freeman as the MC and
The Honourable Alannah MacTiernan as the ofﬁciating
government representative being the Minister for Planning
& Infrastructure. Since this time, some 1,000,000 cubic
metres of earthworks has been completed on the 76Ha site,
the dredge ship has commenced operations and removed
some 750,000 cubic metres of harbour material. One key
advantage of the construction program is that the port
site needs to be raised to several metres above sea level,
thereby requiring substantial backﬁlling. In turn, some 4.5
million cubic metres of material needs to be dredged for
the port site and fortunately it makes for very good base
ﬁll material. This symbiotic relationship creates both cost
and environmental beneﬁts for construction.
The contract award for the design and construction of all
marine structures (including wharf and pylons) has been
awarded to McConnell Dowell. This work is scheduled
to commence in October 2006 with extensive design
work having been completed under an initial consulting
agreement with McConnell Dowell.
Work on the rail line is soon to commence with BGC
having been awarded the contract for the initial earth
works. Contracts for the procurement of key capital items
have been awarded with the shiploaders, stackers and
reclaimers awarded to ThyssenKrupp; the train unloader
to Metso Minerals (Australia); the supply of sleepers to
Austrack and the supply locomotives from GE and United
Group.

The Infrastructure State Agreement was signed in
2005 and the Mining State Agreement was signed in
December 2005. These two agreements have been
ratiﬁed by Parliament and established as respective
Acts to provide for the requisite legislative platform for
Fortescue to build and operate the port, rail and mining
operations. Within the overarching framework of each
agreement, there are a series of separate sub approvals
that must be sought and the Company is now in the
process of producing the necessary documentation and
plans to facilitate this process.
As with any large project, there are many approvals and
consents required to bring the project into operation.
Fortescue’s project team has established an excellent
government relations platform, covering areas of
statutory approvals, environmental land management,
indigenous affairs and local council consents.
During the past year,
the environmental team
successfully concluded the three key approval
processes. The project was broken into separate
public environmental review “PER” applications being
the port and rail, the Cloud Break mining and the
Christmas Creek mining studies. The ﬁnal approval
to be received was for Cloud Break in August 2006
when the Federal Minister for the Environment
granted consent to Fortescue’s application under the
Environmental Protection & Biodiversity Conservation
Act. All approvals require the development of various
management plans that will be active through
construction and into production. Fortescue’s team
has established a strong working relationship with
the key authorities and is well prepared to ensure
its responsibilities are fulﬁlled and monitored on an
ongoing basis.
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Fortescue has been working closely with the various
Aboriginal groups that have interests within the project
footprint. Land Access Agreements have been signed
with all four native title claimant groups being the
Nyiyaparli Group, the Kariyarra Group, the Palyku Group
and the Martu Idja Banyjima Group. The agreements
establish life of project obligations which encompass
both economic and social beneﬁts to the respective
groups.

“CONSTRUCTION IS ADVANCED
AND REMAINS ON BUDGET AND
ON SCHEDULE WITH THE FIRST
ORE TO BE SHIPPED IN THE FIRST
QUARTER OF 2008”
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Fortescue has been actively engaging with the local
communities to develop a constructive relationship.
The Company’s philosophy is to take the project into the
community and give local people an opportunity to both
hear and in turn vocalise their views and opinions. The
ﬁrst stage in this process was to establish a community
ofﬁce in Port Hedland in December 2005. The ofﬁce
established a shop front where people could learn about
the project from development and operational plans
through to employment opportunities. Subsequently, the
local team has grown to four people and more recently
a project induction centre has been established in South
Hedland where any employee or contractor going onto
site are provided with the necessary safety brieﬁngs.
Speciﬁc community forums have also been held to review
particular issues relevant to the project and its impact
on the region. In August this year, a forum was held to
discuss concerns over housing and the general provision
of services. The incredible growth being experienced
across the Pilbara is placing pressure on the supply of
accommodation both short and long term. To alleviate
this, Fortescue has recently commenced work on several
construction villages that will serve the company through
construction but with an additional objective of providing
accommodation options for the community over the
longer term. The 455 room construction accommodation
at South Hedland will revert in part to a motel once
Fortescue completes the port and rail construction.
Longer term, a certain number of rooms will be allocated
to Fortescue as employee housing but the surplus rooms
will be operated as a motel and general accommodation
for the broader Hedland region.
A number of forums have been held regarding speciﬁc
issues around the indigenous communities within the
project area. An initial forum was held in Perth where
people were drawn from a range of backgrounds including
The Hon Fred Chaney, Magistrate Sue Gordon and child
health expert Ted Wilkes. The following day, a group visit
was made to Port Hedland where Fortescue joined with
representatives from local Aboriginal groups together
with federal, state and local government agencies to build
a constructive working relationship with all interested
parties. Fortescue recognises that it will take time to
develop strategies that will deliver long term sustainable
results, however the Company’s initial objective is to start
the process with a shared vision.
One of the outcomes of the forum was the identiﬁcation
of a desire from Fortescue staff to have a better
appreciation of the beliefs and customs of Aboriginal
people. In response, Fortescue has held a series
of cultural awareness programs which have been
successful in enabling individuals to gain a much better
understanding and appreciation of the unique character

8

and structures around the Aboriginal communities.
Fortescue is also developing an indigenous vocational
training and employment centre (“VTEC”) as part of its
ambition of providing all graduates through the program
with a guarantee of employment with the Company. Cathy
Freeman is Patron of VTEC and in February this year made
a special appearance at the South Hedland Shopping
Centre to speak to the local community.

FINANCE
Providing the ﬁnancial platform to facilitate the
extensive progress across the various company divisions
has been the work of Fortescue’s corporate team. On
11 August 2006, this work culminated in the raising of
approximately A$3.2 billion in debt and equity, thereby
establishing ﬁnancial close for the project.
The total sum raised, consisted of A$2.7 billion from the
issue of secured senior debt notes and A$525 million
from Leucadia National Corporation Inc. The funds
raised reﬁnanced the initial project establishment
facility of US$200 million that was established in May
2006.
The secured debt raising is recognised as the largest high
yield note issued from the Asia Paciﬁc region. It is also
ranked as the largest project ﬁnance note issued globally
and one of the largest offerings ever from Australia. The
raising drew investors from across the globe with 60% of
the funds sourced from North America, 25% from Europe
and 15% from Asia.
The details of the secured note issue are as follows:
• US$320 million 10.000% senior secured notes due 2013
• €315 million 9.750% senior secured notes due 2013
• US$1,080 million 10.625% senior secured notes due 2016
• US$250 million senior secured ﬂoating rate notes due 2011
The ﬂoating rate notes will bear interest at three month
LIBOR plus 4.000% per annum. The notes are listed
on the Singapore Exchange Securities Trading Limited
(the SGX-ST) and are guaranteed by FMG Chichester
Pty Ltd, Pilbara Mining Alliance Pty Ltd and The Pilbara
Infrastructure Pty Ltd. Fortescue Metals Group Ltd
is also guaranteeing the notes until they receive an
investment grade rating from at least two credit rating
agencies. Standard & Poor’s Ratings Group assigned
a BB- credit rating to the notes and Moody’s Investors
Services have assigned Ba3 rating.
The investment received from Leucadia happened
simultaneously with the secured debt raising. On 18
August 2006, Leucadia subscribed US$300 million for
26.4 million new shares in Fortescue Metals Group Ltd
to take a 9.99% holding. At the prevailing exchange rate,
the placement represented a placement at A$15.20 per
share. Leucadia also invested $100 million into FMG
Chichester Pty Ltd through an unsecured loan note with
a term of 13 years. Interest on the note is calculated
as 4% of the revenue, net of government royalties,
from the sale of iron ore FOB Port Hedland from the
tenements of the Cloud Break and Christmas Creek
areas only. Accordingly, the interest is payable only
when Fortescue is in production and is only relevant to
iron ore produced from these two tenement areas until
17 August 2019.

The combination of the above mentioned debt and equity
investments, together with some speciﬁc operating
lease facilities, should provide the requisite funding
structure to take the project through construction and
into production. The total capital platform provides for
the forecast direct capital costs of project construction
and procurement of A$2,412 million plus a contingency
“cost over-run” facility of some A$633 million to cover
any project cost increases that may be experienced.
The platform also provides for a working capital facility
of A$187 million to ensure the business has sufﬁcient
funds to take it into production and a debt service reserve
of A$564 million to accommodate the need to capitalise
interest over the initial construction and ramp up phase
of production.

CONCLUSION
I hope the above detail covering all key project areas
provides a broad perspective on how the project is coming
together. The vision of bringing into existence a major
new supplier of iron ore is fast becoming a reality. The
opportunity to participate in a project of the scale and
international signiﬁcance is exciting for all involved and
translates into an enthusiasm and determination that is
reﬂected in the achievements to date.
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While much has been achieved since the last annual
report, the Company and its people recognise the
importance of maintaining the focus and commitment to
continue to “make things happen”. You can be assured the
Board and the Executives will continue this momentum.
I would like to thank everyone involved in the project for
their efforts both to date and into the future. I hope that
all company stakeholders from shareholders through
to employees, contractors and alliance partners will
continue to derive great pride and reward from their
involvement with the Company.

Andrew Forrest
Chief Executive Ofﬁcer

“RECORD
BREAKING
FINANCING
COMPLETED”
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ASX BEST PRACTICE
RECOMMENDATIONS
ASX BEST PRACTICE RECOMMENDATIONS

THE ASX PRINCIPLES
COMPLIANCE
STATEMENT
PROVIDES A
DESCRIPTION OF THE
MANNER IN WHICH
FORTESCUE METALS
GROUP LTD (“THE

THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS IS COMMITTED
TO ACHIEVING AND DEMONSTRATING THE
HIGHEST STANDARDS OF CORPORATE
GOVERNANCE OVER FORTESCUE AND
IS ULTIMATELY RESPONSIBLE TO THE
SHAREHOLDERS FOR THE PERFORMANCE OF
THE COMPANY.

MORE DETAILED COMPLIANCE STATEMENTS
ARE ALSO AVAILABLE IN THE CORPORATE
GOVERNANCE SECTION OF FORTESCUE’S
WEBSITE (WWW.FMGL.COM.AU).

COMPANY”) AND
ITS CONTROLLED

PRINCIPLE 1: LAY SOLID FOUNDATIONS

ENTITIES

ASX Principle 1 states that a company should “recognise
and publish the respective roles and responsibilities of
the Board and Management”. Fortescue complies with
this principle and associated recommendations in the
following manner:

(“FORTESCUE”)
COMPLIES WITH
THE ASX PRINCIPLES
AND ASSOCIATED
RECOMMENDATIONS.

Recommendation 1.1: Formalise and disclose the
functions reserved to the Board and those delegated
to management.
The Company has an experienced Board of Directors
with appropriate expertise across a range of sectors
including mining, rail and port operations, finance and
marketing. The Board has adopted a specific Director’s
Code of Conduct, in accordance with the Code of Conduct
of the Australian Institute of Company Directors, which
defines core principles that all Directors are required to
adhere to.
The Company has also adopted a Statement of Matters
Reserved for the Board to further clarify and distinguish
the roles of Directors and Management. This statement
summarises the roles and responsibilities of the Board of
the Company. The disclosure of the role and responsibility
of the Board is designed to assist those affected by
corporate decisions to better understand the respective
accountabilities and contributions of the Board and
management of Fortescue.
The Board has speciﬁcally reserved the following matters for
its decision:
• Appointing, evaluating, rewarding, and if necessary the
removal of, the Chief Executive Ofﬁcer (“CEO”);
• Approval of strategy and annual budgets;

10

• Determination of major capital and operating
expenditures and major funding activities proposed by
management;
• Formal determinations that are required by Fortescue’s
constitutional documents, by statute or by other external
regulation.
The Board has delegated responsibility for the day-today activities to the CEO and the Executive Directors. The
Board ensures that the team is appropriately qualiﬁed and
experienced to discharge their responsibilities and has in
place procedures to assess the performance of the CEO and
key Executives.
Each new Director is required to sign and return a letter of
appointment which sets out the key terms of the Director’s
appointment. The contents of the letter of appointment for
new Directors are consistent with the ASX Principles.

Reporting on ASX Principle 1.
A copy of the Director’s Code of Conduct, Statement
of Matters Reserved for the Board and the Director
appointment letter are available in the corporate
governance section of Fortescue’s website.

PRINCIPLE 2: BOARD STRUCTURE
ASX Principle 2 states that a company should
“have a Board of an effective composition,
size and commitment to adequately discharge
its responsibilities and duties”. Fortescue
complies with this principle and associated
recommendations, other than Recommendation
2.1, in the following manner:
Recommendation 2.1: A Board should consist of
a majority of Independent Directors.
In accordance with the Company’s constitution, the
Board is to comprise a minimum of three Directors
up to a maximum of twelve Directors. As at 30 June
2006 Fortescue had a Board of six Directors with three
classiﬁed as Non Executive, Independent Directors and
three being Executive Directors. Accordingly, the Board
does not comply with Recommendation 2.1 in that it
does not have a majority of Independent Directors.
Notwithstanding, the Chairman does have a casting vote
on Board matters and the Chairman is an Independent
Director. This provides for a balance of power to the
Independent Directors in the event of a split vote.
It should be noted that following the placement of
9.99% of the Company’s shares to Leucadia National
Corporation, Inc. (“Leucadia”) in August 2006, an
offer of a Board seat was accepted by Leucadia. The
nominated Director is Mr Joseph Steinberg and while
he will be Non Executive he is not an Independent
Director given he is associated with a substantial
shareholder in Leucadia.
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Whilst it is the Company’s medium term objective to
have a majority of Independent Directors, the Board
considers that it currently has an appropriate structure
to discharge its duties in a manner that is in the best
interests of Fortescue and its shareholders. The Board
is of the view that its Directors do provide independent
consideration of matters.
Notwithstanding, the Board recognises that its current
composition is contrary to the ASX Best Practice
Recommendations and the Nominations Committee
is reviewing the current Board structure with a view to
facilitating an additional Independent Director in due
course.

Recommendation 2.2: The Chairperson should
be an Independent Director.
Fortescue complies with this recommendation as the
Chairman of the Board is an Independent, Non Executive
Director.
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ASX BEST PRACTICE RECOMMENDATIONS

ASX BEST PRACTICE
RECOMMENDATIONS
Recommendation 2.3: The roles of Chairperson and
Chief Executive Ofﬁcer should not be exercised by
the same individual.
The positions of Chairman and Chief Executive Ofﬁcer are
not ﬁlled by the same person.

Recommendation 2.4: The Board should establish
a Nominations Committee.
The Company has a Nominations Committee which
forms part of the Remuneration Committee. The charter
for this committee is included in the Remuneration
Committee charter and is available from Fortescue’s
website. In regards to its nominations role, the
Committee is responsible to regularly review and make
recommendations to the Board on the optimum size of
the Board, the appropriate skills required of Directors
and the appropriate evaluation methods to review the
performance of the Board. The Board has also adopted
a Procedure for Selection and Appointment of New
Directors which is also available on the website.

Recommendation 2.5: Provide the information
indicated in Guide to Reporting on Principle 2.
The names of the Directors in ofﬁce at the date of this
report, the year of their appointment, their independence
(or otherwise) and whether they retire at the 2006 annual
general meeting are set out in the table below. The detail
of each Director’s tenure and prior corporate experience
is provided on page 18. The attendance of Board meetings
and Committee meetings is detailed on page 20. The
Board has accepted the criteria to assess independence
of Directors provided by the ASX.

APPOINTED

EXECUTIVE
OR NON
EXECUTIVE

INDEPENDENT

RETIRING AND
SEEKING
RE-ELECTION
IN 2006

Gordon Toll
(Chairman)

2005

Non-Executive

Yes

No

Herb Elliott

2003

Non-Executive

Yes

Yes

Andrew Forrest
(CEO)

2003

Executive

No

No

Graeme Rowley

2003

Executive

No

Yes

Russell Scrimshaw

2003

Executive

No

No

Ken Ambrecht

2003

Non-Executive

Yes

No

DIRECTOR

Reporting on ASX Principle 2
A copy of the Remuneration and Nominations Committee
Charter and a copy of the Procedure for Selection and
Appointment of New Directors are available in the
corporate governance section of Fortescue’s website.
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PRINCIPLE 3: ETHICAL AND
RESPONSIBLE DECISION MAKING
ASX Principle 3 states that a company should “actively
promote ethical and responsible-decision making”.
Fortescue complies with this principle and associated
recommendations in the following manner.

Recommendation 3.1: Establish a Code of Conduct
to guide the Directors, the Chief Executive
Ofﬁcer, the Chief Financial Ofﬁcer and other key
Executives as to:
3.1.1 the practices necessary to maintain the
conﬁdence in the Company’s integrity.
3.1.2 the responsibility and accountability of
individuals for reporting and investigating
reports of unethical practices.
Fortescue has established a Director Code of Conduct
together with a more general Employee Code of Conduct
which describes the standards of ethical behaviour that
Directors and key Executives are required to maintain.
The Director’s code details a range of issues relating
to Director’s responsibilities including those required
under Corporations Law. The code also provides a
concise summary of the general principles and duties
expected of the Company’s Directors with commentary
on issues relating to professional integrity, conﬂicts
of interest and general duties owed to the Company,
stakeholders and creditors.
The broader Employee Code of Conduct provides a guide
to adherence of appropriate practices so as to maintain
conﬁdence in the Company’s integrity. The document
sets out the responsibilities and accountability of
individuals for reporting or investigating reports of
unethical practices.

Recommendation 3.2: Disclose the policy
concerning trading in company securities by
Directors, Ofﬁcers and employees.
The Board has established a Securities Trading Policy
which outlines the policy for Directors and employees
when trading in shares of the Company. The policy
sets out a brief summary of the law on insider trading
and other relevant laws and sets out the restrictions
on dealing in securities by people who work for, or are
associated with, Fortescue.
The policy deﬁnes speciﬁc periods of time when it is
generally acceptable to trade in the Company’s shares.
It is however recognised that these periods are not

always determinable in advance as the Company will
continue to make market disclosures as required as it
develops its major project. Accordingly, within the policy
there is a requirement that any Director or employee
wishing to trade shares must inform the Notiﬁcations
Ofﬁcer who will give ﬁnal clearance as to timing of any
sale or purchase. This is designed to protect Directors
and employees from inadvertently dealing in shares at a
time when an announcement may be imminent.

Recommendation 3.3: Provide the information
indicated in Guide to Reporting on Principle 3.
Fo r t e s c u e c o m p l i e s w i t h t h e b e s t p r a c t i c e
recommendations of Principle 3. A copy of the Director’s
Code of Conduct, Employee Code of Conduct and
Securities Trading Policy is available in the corporate
governance section of Fortescue’s website.

Reporting on ASX Principle 3:
A summary of the main provisions of the Codes of Conduct
for Directors and key Executives and the main provisions
of the Securities Dealing Policy are available in the
corporate governance section of Fortescue’s website.

PRINCIPLE 4: FINANCIAL
REPORTING INTEGRITY
ASX Principle 4 states that a company should “have a
structure in place to independently verify and safeguard
the integrity of the Company’s Financial Reporting”.
Fortescue complies with this principle and associated
recommendations in the following manner.

Recommendation 4.1: Require the Chief Executive
Ofﬁcer and the Chief Financial Ofﬁcer to state in
writing to the Board that the Company’s Financial
reports present a true and fair view, in all material
respects, of the Company’s Financial condition
and operational results and are in accordance
with relevant accounting standards.
The Chief Executive Ofﬁcer and the Chief Financial
Ofﬁcer have provided a letter to the Board of Directors
stating that the Company’s ﬁnancial reports;
• have been maintained properly in accordance with
the Corporations Act;
• are in accordance with relevant accounting
standards
• present a true and fair view, in all material respects,
of Fortescue’s ﬁnancial position and performance.
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Recommendation 4.2: The Board should establish
an Audit Committee.
Fortescue has established an Audit Committee. The
structure of the Audit Committee is outlined under
Recommendation 4.3.

Recommendation 4.3: To structure the Audit
Committee so that it consists of:
• only Non-Executive Directors.
• a majority of Independent Directors.
• an Independent Chairperson, who is not
Chairperson of the Board.
• at least three members.
The Audit Committee is comprised of three NonExecutive Directors of whom all are considered
independent. The Chairman of the Committee is not
the Chairman of the Board. The Audit Committee
has a Charter that sets out the Committee’s role and
responsibilities, composition, structure and membership
requirements. The Charter is available on Fortescue’s
website.
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ASX BEST PRACTICE
RECOMMENDATIONS
Recommendation 4.4: The Audit Committee should
have a formal charter.

PRINCIPLE 5: TIMELY AND BALANCED
DISCLOSURE

The Board has approved an Audit Committee Charter that
is available on Fortescue’s website.

ASX Principle 5 states that a company should “promote
timely and balanced disclosure of all material matters
concerning the Company”. Fortescue complies with this
principle and associated recommendations in the following
manner.

Recommendation 4.5: Provide the information
indicated in Guide to Reporting on Principle 4.
The experience of the Audit Committee members being Mr
Elliott (Chairman) Mr Toll and Mr Ambrecht can be found
on page 18. Detail on the number of meetings held and
attended by members over the ﬁnancial year ended 30
June 2006 can be found on page 20. The Audit Committee
also oversees the external auditor relationship including
the terms of engagement of Fortescue’s external auditor.

Reporting on ASX Principle 4:
A copy of the Audit Committee Charter is available in the
corporate governance section of Fortescue’s website.

Recommendation 5.1: Establish written policies
and procedures designed to ensure compliance
with ASX Listing Rule disclosure requirements and
to ensure accountability at a senior management
level for that compliance.
Fortescue has a Continuous Disclosure Policy, a copy
of which is available on Fortescue’s website. The Policy
provides a broad overview of the reporting requirements
including the statutory environment within which the
Company operates. It identiﬁes requirements at law under
section 674 of the Corporations Act and under ASX Listing
Rule 3.1 including;
• issues and tests for materiality;
• the type of information that needs to be disclosed;
• the process for bringing such information to the
attention of the Company and its nominated Reporting
Ofﬁcer;
• the role of the Chief Executive Ofﬁcer as ultimate
decision maker for Fortescue’s continuous
disclosure obligations;
• the role of the Board to review all disclosures made
during the time since the previous meeting.
With regard to general disclosures at media brieﬁngs
or public presentations, only the Chairman, the Chief
Executive Ofﬁcer or their delegated person/s are
authorised to issue public comments on behalf of the
Company or provide journalists and members of the
investment community with information.

Recommendation 5.2: Provide the information
indicated in Guide to Reporting on Principle 5.
A summary of the main provisions of the Continuous
Disclosure Policy is available in the corporate governance
section of Fortescue’s website.

Reporting on ASX Principle 5:
A copy of the Continuous Disclosure Policy is available in
the corporate governance section of Fortescue’s website.
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PRINCIPLE 6: SHAREHOLDER RIGHTS

PRINCIPLE 7: RISK MANAGEMENT

ASX Principle 6 states that a company should
“respect the rights of shareholders and facilitate
the effective exercise of those rights”. Fortescue
complies with this principle and associated
recommendations, other than Recommendation
6.1, in the following manner.

ASX Principle 7 states that a company should
“establish a sound system of risk oversight and
management and internal control“. Fortescue
complies with this principle and associated
recommendations, other than Recommendation
7.1, in the following manner.

Recommendation 6.1: Design and disclose a
communication strategy to promote effective
communication with shareholders and encourage
effective participation at general meetings.

Recommendation 7.1: The Board or appropriate
Board committee should establish policies on
risk oversight and management.

The Company’s shareholder communications strategy
remains an ongoing “work in progress” matter. The
principle behind the strategy is to encourage a two way
communication channel with shareholders. The Company
produces a newsletter from time to time which is available
on the website. The Company also ensures it produces
extensive quarterly reports which are provided to the ASX
and posted to its website. Various Senior Executives of
the Company make regular presentations at industry
forums and conferences.
The underlying shareholder communications policy is
based on the objective that:
• Fortescue communicates effectively with its
shareholders and will give shareholders ready access
to balanced and understandable information about
Fortescue and its corporate proposals; and
• Fortescue recognises the importance of shareholder
participation in general meetings and supports and
encourages that participation.

Recommendation 6.2: Request the external
auditor to attend the annual general meeting and
be available to answer shareholder questions
about the conduct of the audit and the preparation
and content of the auditor’s report.
The Company ensures that its external auditor is in
attendance at its Annual General Meeting and is available
to answer questions regarding the audit process and
preparation of ﬁnancial reports.

Reporting on ASX Principle 6:
A formal shareholder communications policy is currently
being reviewed. The external auditors are required to attend
Fortescue’s Annual General Meeting and be available to
answer shareholder questions about the conduct of the audit
and the preparation and content of the auditor’s report.

The Company is in the process of developing a
comprehensive risk management policy document.
The matter has been reviewed by the Audit Committee
and with the assistance of the Company’s auditor BDO,
a team has been tasked with the responsibility of
developing a formal risk management system.
The Company is very aware of the need to identify and
manage its critical path risk variables. For example,
the Company has recently outsourced the development
and operations of its information systems which
are subject to ongoing review to ensure adequate
safeguards and controls are in place. The Company has
also recently adopted a formal safety analysis report
and related Board monitoring process to ensure safety
is appropriately reviewed. The Company is focused on
building a strong culture of safety and holds regular
safety meetings for all staff where speciﬁc issues are
raised and discussed. A key objective of these meetings
is the identiﬁcation of work safety hazards (if any) and
the appropriate remedial treatment thereof.
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Recommendation 7.2: The Chief Executive Ofﬁcer
and the Chief Financial Ofﬁcer should state in
writing to the Board that:
7.2.1 the statement given in accordance with
best practice recommendation 4.1 (the integrity
of the ﬁnancial statements) is founded on a
sound system of risk management and internal
compliance and control which implements the
policies adopted by the Board.
7.2.2 the Company’s risk management and
internal compliance and control system is
operating efﬁciently and effectively in all material
respects.
The Chief Executive Ofﬁcer and the Chief Financial
Ofﬁcer have provided a letter to the Board of Directors
stating that the Company’s ﬁnancial reports were based
on the existence of a sound system of risk oversight,
management and internal control.
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ASX BEST PRACTICE
RECOMMENDATIONS
Recommendation 7.3: Provide the information
indicated in Guide to Reporting on Principle 7.
The Company is in the process of developing a
comprehensive risk management policy document. The
matter has been reviewed by the Audit Committee and
with the assistance of the Company’s auditor BDO, a team
has been tasked with the responsibility of developing a risk
management system.

Reporting on ASX Principle 7:
A comprehensive risk management policy document is
currently being developed.

PRINCIPLE 8: ENHANCED
PERFORMANCE
ASX Principle 8 states that a company should “fairly
review and actively encourage enhanced Board and
management effectiveness”. Fortescue complies
with this principle and associated recommendations
in the following manner.
Recommendation 8.1: Disclose the process
for performance evaluation of the Board, its
Committees and Individual Directors, and key
Executives.
The Board evaluates the performance of Directors and
Executives regularly. An earlier comprehensive Director
questionnaire had identiﬁed speciﬁc areas of concern or
priority pursuant to Board effectiveness and performance.
This enabled the Company to put in place systems and
procedures to ensure it optimises performance outcomes.
The Chairman is responsible for ensuring that each
new Board member is inducted and that they have every
opportunity to increase their knowledge about the Company
to ensure that they can participate in an effective manner to
the Board deliberations.
Procedures are in place to allow any Director or Committee
of the Board to seek external professional advice as
considered necessary, at the Company’s expense.
All Directors are expected to maintain the skills required
to discharge their obligations to Fortescue. Directors are
encouraged to undertake continuing professional education
and where this involves industry seminars and approved
education courses, this is paid for by Fortescue where
appropriate. In addition, management provides presentations
on industry-related matters and new developments with
potential to affect Fortescue.
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Reporting on ASX Principle 8:
Fortescue is continuing to develop its Board and
Executive evaluation processes. At this stage there
is not a formal policy or charter in place but it is the
Company’s intention to develop such a policy and this
will be made available on Fortescue’s website in due
course.

PRINCIPLE 9: REMUNERATION
ASX Principle 9 states that a company should
“ensure that the level and composition of
remuneration is sufﬁcient and reasonable and
its relationship to corporate and individual
performance is deﬁned”. Fortescue complies with
this principle and associated recommendations,
other than Recommendation 9.2, in the following
manner.
Recommendation 9.1: Provide disclosure in
relation to the Company’s remuneration policies
to enable investors to understand (i) the costs
and beneﬁts of those policies and (ii) the link
between remuneration paid to Directors and key
Executives and corporate performance.
Details of remuneration policies and remuneration paid
to the Company’s Directors and to its ﬁve highest paid
Executives are disclosed within the Remuneration Report of
the Annual Report. The remuneration report also includes
full disclosure of service agreements, share based payments
and any non-monetary beneﬁts provided to the Company’s
Directors and to its ﬁve highest paid Executives.
During 2006 there were a number of employees issued with
share options and the details of those provided to the ﬁve
highest paid Executives of the Company have been identiﬁed
within the remuneration section of this Annual Report.
The terms and conditions of issue require the recipients
to remain as employees for at least four years before they
become entitled to their full allocation. Under the speciﬁc
option terms they are only exercisable in stages commencing
after 12 months from issue at 25% of the allotment and then
increasing in the same percentage until full entitlement is
achieved after 48 months of service from the issue date.
The development of appropriately tailored performance
targets for Directors and key employees is currently being
reviewed as part of Fortescue’s ongoing reﬁnement of
its remuneration planning. To date, the company has
been focused on getting the project ﬁnanced and into
construction. The target for all employees has been

clearly deﬁned given this single focus. Going forward
however, as the project moves through construction and
into operations, the development of key performance
targets will become much more important and linked to
operational and proﬁt outcomes. In recognition of 9.1 (ii)
these will be disclosed accordingly.

Recommendation 9.2: The Board should establish
a Remuneration Committee.
The Company has a Remuneration and Nomination
Committee and its charter is available on the website.
The Company complies with the recommendation that
the Committee consists of three people, however it does
not comply with the recommendation that the Chairman
of Committee be an Independent Director. As was
noted last year, the Chairman of Committee Mr Russell
Scrimshaw was originally an Independent Director,
however he became an Executive of the Company as
from 1 July 2005. Notwithstanding, the Board continues
to retain Mr Scrimshaw as Chairman given his prior
experience and his determination to remain independent
in his judgement and dealings with the Committee.
The Company’s objective as stated in the Charter, is to
ensure that all Senior Executives including the Chief
Executive Ofﬁcer and Executive Directors have their
remuneration packages reviewed on a regular basis.
These reviews aim to ensure the balance between base
pay, incentive schemes and superannuation plans are
appropriate to Fortescue’s circumstances and goals.

Recommendation 9.3: Clearly distinguish the structure
of Non-Executive Directors’ remuneration from that of
Executives.
Details of remuneration policies and remuneration paid
to the Company’s Executive Directors and Non-Executive
Directors are disclosed within the Remuneration Report
of the Annual Report. Non Executive Directors do not
receive performance related compensation.

Recommendation 9.4: Ensure that payment of
equity-based Executive remuneration is made in
accordance with thresholds set in plans approved
by shareholders.

Recommendation 9.5: Provide the information
indicated in Guide to Reporting on Principle 9.
The experience of the Remuneration and Nominations
Committee members being Mr Scrimshaw (Chairman)
Mr Toll and Mr Elliott can be found on page 18. Detail
on the number of meetings held and attended by
members over the ﬁnancial year ended 30 June 2005
can be found on page 20.

Reporting on ASX Principle 9:
A copy of the Remuneration and Nominations
Committee Charter is available in the Corporate
Governance section of Fortescue’s website.

PRINCIPLE 10: INTEREST OF
STAKEHOLDERS
ASX Principle 10 states that a company should
“recognise the legal and other obligations
of all legitimate stakeholders”. Fortescue
complies with this principle and associated
recommendations in the following manner.
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Recommendation 10.1: Establish and disclose
a code of conduct to guide compliance with
legal and other obligations to legitimate
stakeholders.
The Company has established a Code of Conduct
as a guide for compliance with the legal and social
obligations owed by Fortescue to all stakeholders.
The Company is active in the direct engagement of
relevant stakeholders and this has been an important
part of progressing the development of Fortescue’s
environmental and native title approval processes
together with the enhancement of its general
community relations position.

Reporting on ASX Principle 10:
A summary of the main provisions of the Code of
Conduct is available in the corporate governance
section of Fortescue’s website.

The Fortescue Metals Group Employee Share Option Plan
“ESOP” was approved by shareholders at the 2005 AGM.
All 2006 equity based Executive remuneration has been
made in accordance with that scheme.
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DIRECTORS’ REPORT
YOUR DIRECTORS’

DIRECTORS

PRESENT

The names and details of Directors of the Company in
ofﬁce during the ﬁnancial year and until the date of this
report are as follows:

THEIR REPORT,

Mr Gordon Toll

TOGETHER WITH

Mr Herb Elliott

THE FINANCIAL

Mr Andrew Forrest

REPORT OF

Mr Graeme Rowley

FORTESCUE

Mr Russell Scrimshaw

METALS GROUP

Mr Ken Ambrecht

LTD (“THE

Directors were in ofﬁce for the entire period.

COMPANY”) AND

Names, qualiﬁcations, experience and special
responsibilities, as follows:

ITS CONTROLLED

DIRECTORS’ REPORT

ENTITIES
(“FORTESCUE”)
FOR THE YEAR
ENDED 30 JUNE
2006 AND THE
INDEPENDENT
AUDIT REPORT.

MR GORDON TOLL
Chairman – Age 59

Mr Toll was appointed as a Non-Executive Director of the
Company in January 2005 and became Chairman in May
2005. He is a member of the Audit Committee. Mr Toll
previously held senior executive positions with BHP Billiton
Ltd and Rio Tinto Plc and in those roles had experience
in the development of iron ore projects within the Pilbara
region of Western Australia. Mr Toll has been Chairman
of Linq Capital Ltd (responsible entity for Linq Resources
Fund) since July 2002, Chairman of Eastern Mediterranean
Minerals Ltd since May 2005, a Non-Executive Director of
Avocet Mining Plc since March 2005 and a Non-Executive
Director of Compass Resources NL since July 2001.

MR HERB ELLIOTT AC MBE
Deputy Chairman - Age 68

Mr Elliott was elected a Non-Executive Director of the
Company in October 2003 and became Deputy Chairman in
May 2005. Mr Elliott is Chairman of the Audit Committee
and is a member of the Remuneration Committee. Mr
Elliott is also Chairman of Telstra Foundation Limited and
a Director of Ansell Limited since February 2001. Previous
executive roles include President of PUMA North America.
Mr Elliott is the former inaugural Chairman of the National
Australia Day Committee and was a Commissioner on the
Australian Broadcasting Commission.
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MR ANDREW FORREST

MR RUSSELL SCRIMSHAW

Chief Executive Ofﬁcer – Age 44

Executive Director – Age 57

Mr Forrest has been Chief Executive Ofﬁcer of the
Company since April 2003 and was Interim Chairman
from then until May 2005. Mr Forrest is Chairman of
Moly Mining Ltd (since April 2003) and the Australian
Children’s Trust. His previous roles include Chairman of
Siberia Mining Corporation Limited (now Monarch Ltd),
Chief Executive Ofﬁcer and Deputy Chairman of Anaconda
Nickel Limited (now Minara Resources Ltd), Chairman
of the Murrin Murrin Joint Venture, Director of the West
Australian Chamber of Minerals and Energy and Chairman
of Athletics Australia. Mr Forrest has extensive experience
in the mining sector with specialist expertise in major
project ﬁnance.

Mr Scrimshaw was a Non-Executive Director of the
Company from October 2003 through to June 2005, at
which time he became Executive Director Commercial.
Since becoming an Executive Director of the Company,
Mr Scrimshaw has relinquished previous Non-Executive
roles as Chairman of Fusia Ltd, Non-Executive Director
of Mobilesoft Ltd and a Director of Athletics Australia.
He is Chairman of the Remuneration Committee. He
is a Board member of the Garvan Institute and is an
Associate Member of the Australian Society of Certiﬁed
Practicing Accountants. Mr Scrimshaw previously
held executive positions within the Commonwealth
Bank of Australia, Optus, Alcatel, IBM and Amdahl
USA.

MR GRAEME ROWLEY AM
Executive Director – Age 66

MR KEN AMBRECHT

Non-Executive Director – Age 60
Mr Rowley has been Executive Director of Operations of
the Company since October 2003. Previously he was an
executive with Rio Tinto Plc holding senior positions in
Hamersley Iron and Argyle Diamonds. Mr Rowley’s previous
Directorships have included the Dampier Port Authority,
the Pilbara Development Commission, the Council for the
West Pilbara College of TAFE and the Western Australian
State Government’s Technical Advisory Council. Mr Rowley
has extensive experience in operational management of
both iron ore ship loading facilities and heavy haul railway
within the Pilbara.

Mr Ambrecht is a Non-Executive Director of the
Company and is a member of the Audit Committee.
Mr Ambrecht is the Managing Director of KCA
Associates LLC, which provides investment advisory
services. He has been a Non-Executive Director of
American Financial Capital Inc since April 2005
and Great American Financial Resources Inc since
July 2004. Mr Ambrecht was previously Managing
Director of First Albany Capital Inc. and a Managing
Director of the high yield division of the Royal Bank
of Canada following a 25 year career in the capital
markets division of Lehman Brothers.
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DIRECTORS’ MEETINGS
The numbers of meetings of the Company’s Board of Directors and of each
Board committee held during the year ended 30 June 2006, and the numbers of
meetings attended by each Director were:

The Remuneration Committee also acts as the Nomination Committee.

COMMITTEE MEETINGS

BOARD
MEETINGS

DIRECTOR

AUDIT

REMUNERATION

A

B

A

B

A

B

Mr Gordon Toll

11

13

2

3

1

2

Mr Herb Elliott

10

13

3

3

3

3

Mr Andrew Forrest

13

13

•

•

•

•

Mr Graeme Rowley

13

13

•

•

•

•

Mr Russell Scrimshaw

11

13

•

•

3

3

Mr Ken Ambrecht

12

13

2

3

•

•

DIRECTORS’ REPORT

A = Number of meetings attended
B = Number of meetings held during the time the Director held ofﬁce or was a member of the
committee during the year
• = Not a member of the relevant committee
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In addition to the scheduled Board and Committee meetings, a number of
matters were resolved by circulating Board Resolutions.
NUMBER OF
CIRCULATING
RESOLUTIONS ELIGIBLE

NUMBER OF
CIRCULATING
RESOLUTIONS EXECUTED

Mr Gordon Toll

3

3

Mr Herb Elliott

3

3

Mr Andrew Forrest

3

3

Mr Graeme Rowley

3

3

Mr Russell Scrimshaw

3

3

Mr Ken Ambrecht

3

3

DIRECTOR

COMPANY SECRETARIES’ PARTICULARS
The following people held the position of Company Secretary at the end of the ﬁnancial year.

MR ROD CAMPBELL
Age 46

Mr Campbell was appointed Joint Company Secretary of the Company in November 2004. Prior to that time, Mr
Campbell was State Manager Western Australia for RaboBank Australia Ltd and before that was a Senior Manager
with State Bank NSW Ltd. Mr Campbell holds a Bachelor of Agricultural Economics from the University of New
England and a Diploma from the Securities Institute of Australia.

MR CHRISTOPHER CATLOW
Age 45

Mr Catlow has been Chief Financial Ofﬁcer of the Company since September 2003 and Company Secretary since
November 2003. Mr Catlow has extensive experience in the resources sector, having previously been a Director of
Consolidated Rutile Ltd and Sierra Rutile Ltd. He was also Executive General Manager Finance of Iluka Resources
Limited and Chief Financial Ofﬁcer of Energy Equity Corporation Limited and Gold Fields Australia Pty Ltd. Mr
Catlow is a Fellow of the Institute of Chartered Accountants in Australia.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

FORTESCUE

METALS GROUP LTD

The principal activity of the Company during the course of the ﬁnancial year was the development of the Pilbara Iron
Ore and Infrastructure Project.
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RESULTS FROM OPERATIONS
The results from operations are as follows.

2006

2005

Operating loss after
income tax

(2,145,701)

(4,518,645)

Total assets

221,048,135

148,342,886

Net assets

137,106,130

59,440,751

$

$

SUMMARY OF FINANCIAL POSITION
Fortescue’s ﬁnancial position improved signiﬁcantly during 2006, with net assets increasing 131% to $137.1 million.
The improvement was attributable to an increase in total assets of $72.7 million comprised primarily of increases in
exploration and evaluation expenditure, partially offset by lower cash balances held at 30 June 2006.
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DIVIDENDS
No dividends have been paid or declared by the Company
to members since the end of the previous ﬁnancial year
and the Directors do not recommend the payment of a
dividend in respect of the current ﬁnancial year.

REVIEW OF OPERATIONS
The highlights of the Company’s operations during the
year were:
• Ongoing development of the Pilbara Iron Ore and
Infrastructure Project with focus on the progression of
the Deﬁnitive Feasibility Study;

DIRECTORS’ REPORT

• Delineation of further resources within the Company’s
Chichester Range deposits through the completion of
exploration and inﬁll drilling programs;
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• Continuing development of the Company’s iron ore
marketing program targeting key customers in China,
Japan, Korea and Europe.

ENVIRONMENTAL REGULATIONS
In the course of its normal mining and exploration activities
Fortescue adheres to environmental regulations imposed
upon it by the various regulatory authorities, particularly
those regulations relating to ground disturbance and the
protection of rare and endangered ﬂora and fauna. The
Company has complied with all material environmental
requirements up to the date of this report.

SIGNIFICANT CHANGES IN THE STATE
OF AFFAIRS
At the Company’s Annual General Meeting held on
8 November 2005 members approved the demerger
of Allied Medical Limited through an “in specie”
distribution of shares to the Company’s shareholders
as at the record date of 23 November 2005.
Allied Medical Limited distributes medical products
and is not part of Fortescue’s core business model. For
the purposes of the demerger, the Directors valued
Allied Medical Limited at $880,000. The in specie share
distribution was transacted with the placement of 4,400,000
shares valued at 20 cents per share.
Fortescue and the Company have prepared ﬁnancial
statements in accordance with the Australian Equivalents to
International Financial Reporting Standards (“AIFRS”) from
1 July 2004.
In accordance with the requirements of AASB 1: Firsttime Adoption of Australian Equivalents to International
Financial Reporting Standards, adjustments to the
Company and Fortescue’s accounts resulting from the
introduction of AIFRS have been applied retrospectively to
2005 comparative ﬁgures excluding cases where optional
exemptions available under AASB 1 have been applied.
These consolidated accounts are the ﬁrst ﬁnancial
statements of Fortescue to be prepared in accordance
with AIFRS.
Other than the demerger of Allied Medical Limited and the
ﬁrst time adoption of AIFRS, there have been no signiﬁcant
changes in the state of affairs of Fortescue either during or
since the end of the ﬁnancial year.

AFTER BALANCE DATE EVENTS
(I) CAPITAL RAISING

On 15 July 2006 Leucadia National Corporation signed a Subscription Agreement to invest US$400 million in Fortescue.
Leucadia will receive 26.4 million shares in the Company and US$100 million of Secured Subordinated Loan Notes
upon ﬁnancial close, which occurs when US$2 billion of secured debt and lease facilities have been established. The
Notes have a 13 year term, a zero ﬁxed interest rate and a variable interest rate equal to 4% of the revenue, net of
government royalties received from the sale of iron ore from Cloud Break and Christmas Creek.

(II) SYNDICATED LOAN

The Company has drawn down an additional US$100 million subsequent to year end.
Other than the matters discussed above, there has not arisen in the interval between the end of the ﬁnancial year
and the date of this report any item, transaction or event of a material and unusual nature likely, in the opinion of the
Directors of the Company, to affect signiﬁcantly the operations of the Company, the results of those operations or the
state of affairs of the Company in future ﬁnancial years.

FUTURE DEVELOPMENTS, PROSPECTS AND BUSINESS STRATEGIES
In the opinion of the Directors, it may prejudice the interests of the Company to provide additional information (except
as reported in this Directors’ Report), in relation to future developments and business strategies of the operations of
the Company and the expected results of those operations in subsequent ﬁnancial years.
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DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS
The relevant interest of each Director in the shares and options issued by the Company, as notiﬁed by
the Directors to the Australian Stock Exchange in accordance with S205G(1) of the Corporations Act
2001, at the date of this report is as follows:

DIRECTOR

ORDINARY SHARES

Mr Gordon Toll

750,000

Mr Herb Elliott

550,000

Mr Andrew Forrest

102,307,830

Mr Graeme Rowley

2,147,569

Mr Russell Scrimshaw

1,077,600

Mr Ken Ambrecht

750,000

DIRECTORS’ REPORT

No Directors held options during the year

SHARE OPTIONS
OPTIONS GRANTED TO DIRECTORS AND OFFICERS OF THE COMPANY
During or since the end of the ﬁnancial year, the Company did not grant options to Directors. During
this period, the Company granted options for no consideration over un-issued ordinary shares in the
Company to the following ﬁve most highly remunerated Ofﬁcers and other key management personnel
(collectively called “key management personnel”) of the Company as part of their remuneration:
FIVE MOST HIGHLY
REMUNERATED OFFICERS

NUMBER OF OPTIONS
GRANTED

EXERCISE PRICE

EXPIRY DATE

-

-

-

Mr Peter Thomas

25,000

$5.69

25 January 2011

Mr John Clout

30,000

$7.03

1 June 2011

Mr Christopher Catlow

100,000

$5.69

25 January 2011

Mr Julian Tapp

40,000

$5.69

25 January 2011

100,000

$5.69

25 January 2011

Mr Alan Watling

OTHER KEY MANAGEMENT
PERSONNEL
Mr Bill Ramsey

All options were granted during the ﬁnancial year. No options have been granted since the end of the
ﬁnancial year.
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UN-ISSUED SHARES UNDER OPTIONS
The number of options on issue at the date of this report is as follows. All of these options are unlisted.
NUMBER OF OPTIONS

EXERCISE PRICE

EXPIRY DATE

2,000,000

$2.67

31 December 2009

430,000

$5.69

25 January 2011

500,000

$7.03

1 June 2011

These options were issued pursuant to the Company’s Employee Incentive Option Scheme and have been
allotted to individuals on condition that they serve speciﬁed time periods as an employee of the Company
before becoming entitled to exercise the options. These options do not entitle the holder to participate in
any share issue of the Company or any other body corporate.

SHARES ISSUED ON EXERCISE OF OPTIONS

During the ﬁnancial year, the Company did not issue ordinary shares as a result of the exercise of options.
Post ﬁnancial year end 22,500 shares were issued as a result of the conversion of employee options with
an exercise price of $2.67.
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DIRECTORS AND OFFICERS INSURANCES
Since the end of the previous ﬁnancial year, the Company has paid premiums of $135,420 to insure the
Directors and Ofﬁcers of Fortescue.
The liabilities insured are legal costs that may be incurred in defending civil or criminal proceedings that
may be brought against the Ofﬁcers in their capacity as Ofﬁcers of Fortescue, and any other payments
arising from liabilities incurred by the Ofﬁcers in connection with such proceedings, other than where
such liabilities arise out of conduct involving a wilful breach of duty by the Ofﬁcers or the improper use
by the Ofﬁcers of their position or of information to gain advantage for themselves or someone else or to
cause detriment to Fortescue. It is not possible to apportion the premium between amounts relating to the
insurance against legal costs and those relating to other liabilities.
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PRINCIPLES OF COMPENSATION

FIXED COMPENSATION

The objective of Fortescue’s Executive reward framework
is to ensure reward for performance is competitive and
appropriate for the results delivered. The framework
aligns Executive reward with the achievement of strategic
objectives and the creation of value for shareholders, and
conforms with market best practice for delivery of reward.
The Board ensures that Executive reward satisﬁes the
following key criteria for good governance practices:

Fixed compensation consists of base compensation as well
as employer contributions to superannuation funds.

• Competitiveness and reasonableness
• Acceptability to shareholders
• Performance linkage/alignment of Executive
compensation
• Transparency
• Capital management

REMUNERATION REPORT

In consultation with external remuneration consultants,
Fortescue has structured an Executive remuneration
framework that is market competitive and complimentary
to the reward strategy of the organisation.
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Alignment to shareholder’s interests:
• Has economic proﬁt as a core component of plan
design
• Focuses on sustained growth in share price and
delivering constant return on assets as well as
focusing the Executive on key non-ﬁnancial drivers of
value
• Attracts and retains high calibre Executives

Alignment to program participants’ interests:
• Rewards capability and experience
• Reﬂects competitive reward for contribution to
shareholder growth
• Provides a clear structure for earning rewards
• Provides recognition for contribution

PERFORMANCE-LINKED COMPENSATION
Performance-linked compensation includes long-term
incentives designed to reward key management personnel
for growth in shareholder wealth. The long term incentive
(“LTI”) is provided as options over ordinary shares of the
Company under the rules of the Fortescue Metals Group Ltd
Incentive Option Scheme (“FMGIOS”). The change in share
price is the key performance criteria for the LTI plan as
the realised value arising from options issued under the
FMGIOS is dependent upon an increase in the share price
to above the exercise price of the options.
The success of Fortescue’s management team can
be determined by their ability to improve the value
of the Company and achieve KPI’s set by the Board.
The Remuneration Committee considers that ﬁxed
compensation combined with the current LTI component
is generating the desired outcomes at this stage.

CONSEQUENCES OF PERFORMANCE ON SHAREHOLDERS WEALTH
In considering Fortescue’s performance and beneﬁts for shareholders wealth, the Remuneration
Committee have regard to the following indices in respect of the current ﬁnancial year and the previous
four ﬁnancial years.

2006 AIFRS

2005 AIFRS

2004 AGAAP

2003 AGAAP

2002 AGAAP

Revenue

$12,664,427

$3,438,050

$4,266,567

$1,753,422

$1,910,539

Net proﬁt (loss)

($2,145,701) ($4,518,645)

$601,586

($834,241)

($298,276)

Dividends paid
Change in share price

-

-

-

-

-

$6.60

$2.85

$0.30

$0.12

($0.05)

The overall level of key management personnel’s compensation takes into account the performance of
Fortescue over a number of years.
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SERVICE AGREEMENTS
Remuneration and other terms of employment for the
Executive Directors and other key management personnel
are formalised in a service agreement. The major
provisions of the agreements relating to remuneration are
set out below.

Mr Andrew Forrest

Chief Executive Ofﬁcer
• Term of agreement – 16 April 2007
• Base salary, inclusive of superannuation, for the year
ended 30 June 2006 of $110,000, to be reviewed
annually by the Remuneration Committee.

Mr Graeme Rowley

REMUNERATION REPORT

Executive Director Operations
• Term of agreement – Unspeciﬁed
• Base salary, inclusive of superannuation, for the year
ended 30 June 2006 of $380,000 to be reviewed annually
by the Remuneration Committee.

Mr Russell Scrimshaw

Executive Director Commercial
• Term of agreement – Unspeciﬁed
• Base salary, inclusive of superannuation, for the
year ended 30 June 2006 of $250,000 to be reviewed
annually by the Remuneration Committee.

Mr Alan Watling

Head of Infrastructure
• Term of agreement – Unspeciﬁed
• Base salary, inclusive of superannuation, for the
year ended 30 June 2006 of $300,000, to be reviewed
annually by the Remuneration Committee.

Mr Peter Thomas

Chief Financial Ofﬁcer of The Pilbara Infrastructure Pty
Ltd (subsidiary)
• Term of agreement – Unspeciﬁed
• Base salary, inclusive of superannuation, for the
year ended 30 June 2006 of $270,000, to be reviewed
annually by the Remuneration Committee.

Dr John Clout
Head of Resource Strategy
• Term of agreement – Unspeciﬁed
• Base salary, inclusive of superannuation, for the
year ended 30 June 2006 of $200,000, to be reviewed
annually by the Remuneration Committee.
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Mr Christopher Catlow
Chief Financial Ofﬁcer/Joint Company Secretary
• Term of agreement – Unspeciﬁed
• Base salary, inclusive of superannuation, for the year
ended 30 June 2006 of $300,000, to be reviewed
annually by the Remuneration Committee.

Mr Julian Tapp
Head of Government Relations
• Term of agreement – Unspeciﬁed
• Base salary, inclusive of superannuation, for the year
ended 30 June 2006 of $230,000, to be reviewed
annually by the Remuneration Committee.

Mr Bill Ramsey
Project Director
• Term of agreement – Unspeciﬁed
• Base salary, inclusive of superannuation, for the year
ended 30 June 2006 of $200,000, to be reviewed
annually by the Remuneration Committee.
All service agreements do not provide termination
payments and are able to be terminated on one months’
notice.

NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS
Total compensation for all Non-Executive Directors, last
voted upon by shareholders at the 2005 AGM, is not to exceed
$500,000 per annum and is set based on advice from external
advisors with reference to the fees paid to other Non-Executive
Directors of comparable companies. Directors’ base fees are
presently up to $40,000 per annum.
The Chairperson receives $162,000 per annum. The Deputy
Chairperson receives $46,000 per annum. Non-Executive
Directors do not receive performance related compensation.
Directors’ fees cover all main Board activities. Non-Executive
Directors who sit on a Board Committee receive an additional
$4,000 per annum per Committee.

DIRECTORS AND EXECUTIVE OFFICERS’ REMUNERATION
(COMPANY AND CONSOLIDATED)

Details of the nature and amount of each major element of remuneration of each Director of the Company
and other key management personnel of Fortescue are:
POST
EMPLOYMENT

SHORT-TERM

Salary &
fees

$

Cash
bonus

$

Nonmonetary
beneﬁts

$

Total
$

Superanuation
beneﬁts

$

OTHER
LONG
TERM

$

TERMINATION
BENEFITS

$

SHARE
BASED
PAYMENTS

Options
(A)

$

PROPORTION OF
REMUNERATION
PERFORMANCE
RELATED

VALUE OF
OPTIONS AS
PROPORTION OF
REMUNERATION

%

%

Total
$

DIRECTORS

Non-Executive
Mr G Toll
Chairperson

Mr H Elliott

Mr K Ambrecht

Mr C Linegar

2006

166,000

166,000

166,000

2005

64,000

64,000

64,000

2006

51,376

51,376

2005

-

2006

44,000

56,000

4,624
53,059

44,000

53,059

100%

44,000

2005

53,059

53,059

100%

2005

53,059

53,059

100%

resigned 27 January 2005

Executive
2006

100,000

100,000

10,000

110,000

2005

100,000

100,000

10,000

110,000

2006

345,454

345,454

34,546

380,000

2005

182,000

182,000

18,200

200,200

2006

225,000

225,000

25,000

2005

55,046

55,046

4,954

53,059

113,059

2006

272,727

422,727

27,273

98,258

548,258

2005

156,916

156,916

15,692

8,076

180,684

4%

2006

245,453

321,210

32,121

105,644

458,975

23%

Chief Financial Ofﬁcer, Pilbara
Infrastructure Pty Ltd

2005

75,003

75,003

7,500

7,672

90,175

9%

Dr J Clout

2006

172,725

172,725

18,182

77,265

268,172

29%

2005

133,761

133,761

13,376

4,442

151,579

3%

49,194

349,194

14%

Mr A Forrest
CEO
Mr G Rowley
Executive Director Operations

Mr R Scrimshaw
Executive Director Commercial

250,000

5 Most Highly
Remunerated Executives
Mr A Watling
Head of Infrastructure

Mr P Thomas

Head of Resource Strategy

Mr C Catlow

150,000

75,757

18%

2006

272,727

272,727

27,273

Chief Financial Ofﬁcer/Company
Secretary

2005

163,000

163,000

16,300

Mr J Tapp

2006

209,091

209,091

20,909

68,807

298,807

23%

2005

120,000

120,000

12,000

4,038

136,038

3%

178,974

178,974

17,897

49,194

246,065

20%

2,509,284

217,825

448,362

3,175,471

1,049,726

98,022

236,464

1,384,212

Manager Government Relations

179,300

Other Key Management Personnel
Mr B Ramsey
Project Manager

2006
2005

TOTAL COMPENSATION

Key Management Personnel (Consolidated and Company)
TOTAL

2006

2,283,527

2005

1,049,726

225,757

All key management personnel are employed by the parent entity.
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REMUNERATION REPORT
NOTES IN RELATION TO THE TABLE OF DIRECTORS AND OTHER KEY MANAGEMENT
PERSONNELS’ REMUNERATION
(a) The fair value of the options is calculated at the date of grant using the Black-Scholes model and
allocated to each reporting period evenly over the period from grant date to vesting date. The value
disclosed is the portion of the fair value of the options allocated to this reporting period. In valuing the
options, market conditions have been taken into account.

REMUNERATION REPORT

The following factors and assumptions were used in determining the fair value of options on grant date:

EXERCISE
PRICE

PRICE OF
SHARES
ON GRANT
DATE

$0.30

$0.50

$0.26

$0.75

28 November 2006

$0.23

31 December 2009

$1.97

25 January 2006

25 January 2011

1 June 2006

1 June 2011

GRANT DATE

EXPIRY DATE

28 November 2003

28 November 2006

28 November 2003

28 November 2006

28 November 2003
1 June 2005

FAIR
VALUE
PER
OPTION

EXPECTED
VOLATILITY

RISK FREE
INTEREST
RATE

$0.50

26.40%

5.75%

-

$0.50

26.40%

5.75%

-

$1.00

$0.50

26.40%

5.75%

-

$2.67

$2.67

26.40%

5.75%

-

$4.60

$5.69

$6.15

26.80%

5.13%

-

$5.79

$7.03

$7.68

26.80%

5.75%

-

DIVIDEND
YIELD

EQUITY INSTRUMENTS
All options refer to options over ordinary shares of the Company, which are exercisable on a one-for-one
basis under the FMGIOS.

OPTIONS OVER EQUITY INSTRUMENTS GRANTED AS COMPENSATION

Details on options over ordinary shares in the Company that were granted as compensation to each key
management person during the reporting period and details on options that were vested during the
reporting period are as follows:

EXECUTIVES

NUMBER
OF OPTIONS
GRANTED
DURING 2006

GRANT DATE

Mr A Watling

-

Mr P Thomas

25,000

Dr J Clout
Mr C Catlow
Mr J Tapp
Mr B Ramsey

FAIR
VALUE OF
OPTIONS
GRANTED
DURING
2006

NUMBER
OF OPTIONS
VESTED
DURING 2006

EXERCISE
PRICE OF
OPTIONS
GRANTED
DURING
2006

EXPIRY DATE
OF OPTIONS
GRANTED
DURING 2006

-

50,000

-

-

25 January 2006

47,500

$4.60

$5.69

25 January 2011

30,000

1 June 2006

37,500

$5.79

$7.03

1 June 2011

100,000

25 January 2006

-

$4.60

$5.69

25 January 2011

40,000

25 January 2006

25,000

$4.60

$5.69

25 January 2011

100,000

25 January 2006

-

$4.60

$5.69

25 January 2011

No Directors held options during the year. No options have been granted since the end of the ﬁnancial year.
The options were provided at no cost to the recipients. All options expire on the earlier of their expiry date
or termination of the individual’s employment. The options are exercisable on an annual basis four years
from grant date.
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MODIFICATION OF TERMS OF EQUITY-SETTLED SHARE-BASED PAYMENT TRANSACTIONS

No terms of equity-settled share-based payment transactions (including options granted as compensation to a key
management person) have been altered or modiﬁed by the Company during the reporting period.

EXERCISE OF OPTIONS GRANTED AS COMPENSATION

During the ﬁnancial year, the Company did not issue ordinary shares as a result of the exercise of options. Post
ﬁnancial year end 22,500 shares were issued as a result of the conversion of employee options with an exercise price
of $2.67.

ANALYSIS OF OPTIONS OVER EQUITY INSTRUMENTS GRANTED AS COMPENSATION

Details of the vesting proﬁle of the options granted as remuneration to each Director of the Company and key
management personnel is detailed below;

5 MOST HIGHLY
REMUNERATED

OPTIONS GRANTED

NUMBER

% VESTED IN
YEAR

FORFEITED
IN YEAR

DATE

FINANCIAL
YEARS IN
WHICH
GRANT
VESTS

MIN

VALUE YET TO VEST
$
MAX (A)

June 2005

25%

-

(B)

-

$286,698

190,000

June 2005

25%

-

(B)

-

$272,363

25,000

January 2006

-

-

(B)

-

$102,802

Dr J Clout

150,000

June 2005

25%

-

(B)

-

$215,024

Dr J Clout

30,000

June 2006

-

-

(B)

-

$170,219

Mr C Catlow

100,000

January 2006

-

-

(B)

-

$411,210

Mr J Tapp

100,000

June 2005

25%

-

(B)

-

$143,349

Mr J Tapp

40,000

January 2006

-

-

(B)

-

$164,484

January 2006

-

-

(B)

-

$411,210

Mr A Watling

200,000

Mr P Thomas
Mr P Thomas
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OTHER KEY MANAGEMENT PERSONNEL
Mr B Ramsey

100,000

No Directors held options during the year.
(A) The maximum value of options yet to vest is not determinable as it depends on the market price of shares of
the Company on the Australian Stock Exchange at the date the option is exercised. These share prices represent a
maximum price included in the volatility assumptions within the valuation of the options.
(B) The options were issued pursuant to the FMGIOS and may be exercised 25% after one year, 50% after two years,
75% after three years and in full after four years from grant date.
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REMUNERATION REPORT
ANALYSIS OF MOVEMENTS IN OPTIONS
The movement during the reporting period, by value, of options over ordinary shares in the Company held
by each key management person is detailed below. No Directors held options during the year.
(A) The value of options granted in the year is the fair value of the options calculated at grant date using the BlackScholes model. The total value of the options granted is included in the table above. This amount is allocated to
remuneration over the vesting period.

REMUNERATION REPORT

KEY MANAGEMENT
PERSONNEL

GRANTED IN
YEAR
$

EXERCISED IN
YEAR
$

FORFEITED
IN YEAR

TOTAL OPTION
VALUE IN YEAR
$

Mr A Watling

-

-

-

-

Mr P Thomas

$115,101

-

-

$115,101

Mr J Clout

$173,790

-

-

$173,790

Mr C Catlow

$460,404

-

-

$460,404

Mr J Tapp

$184,161

-

-

$184,161

Mr B Ramsey

$460,404

-

-

$460,404

NON-AUDIT SERVICES
The Company may decide to employ the auditor on assignments additional to their statutory audit duties where
the auditor’s expertise and experience with Fortescue is important.
Details of the amounts paid or payable to the auditor (BDO Chartered Accountants & Advisers) for audit and
non-audit services provided during the year are set out below.
The Board of Directors has considered the position and, in accordance with the advice received from the Audit
Committee, is satisﬁed that the provision of the non-audit services is compatible with the general standard of
independence for auditors imposed by the Corporations Act 2001. The Directors are satisﬁed that the provision of
non-audit services by the auditor, as set out below, did not compromise the auditor independence requirements
of the Corporations Act 2001 for the following reasons:
• all non-audit services have been reviewed by the Audit Committee to ensure they do not impact the
impartiality and objectivity of the auditor
• none of the services undermine the general principles relating to auditor independence as set out in
Professional Statement Fl, including reviewing or auditing the auditor’s own work, acting in a management
or a decision-making capacity for the Company, acting as advocate for the Company or jointly sharing
economic risk and rewards.
During the year the following fees were paid or payable for services provided by the auditor of the Company, its
related practices and non-related audit ﬁrms.
CONSOLIDATED
AMOUNTS RECEIVED OR DUE AND RECEIVABLE BY AUDITORS FOR:

2006 ($)

AUDIT SERVICES
BDO Chartered Accountants & Advisers

2005 ($)
-

$56,715

$40,514

FINANCIAL DUE DILIGENCE
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BDO Chartered Accountants & Advisers

$107,261

-

TOTAL REMUNERATION

$163,976

$40,514

REMUNERATION REPORT

AUDITORS’ INDEPENDENCE DECLARATION
A copy of the auditors’ independence declaration as required under section 307C of the Corporations Act 2001 is
set out below.

AUDITOR
BDO Chartered Accountants & Advisers continues in ofﬁce in accordance with section 327 of the Corporations Act
2001.
This report is made in accordance with a resolution of the Directors.

Gordon Toll

REMUNERATION REPORT

Chairman
Dated at Perth this 18th day of July 2006.
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Chartered Accountants
& Advisers

Level 8, 256 St George’s Terrace Perth WA 6000
PO Box 7426 Cloisters Square Perth WA 6850
Tel: (61-8) 9360 4200
Fax: (61-8) 9481 2524
Email: bdo@bdowa.com.au
www.bdo.com.au

18 July 2006

The Directors
Fortescue Metals Group Ltd
PO Box 910
WEST PERTH WA 6872

DECLARATION OF INDEPENDENCE BY BDO TO THE DIRECTORS OF FORTESCUE
METALS GROUP LIMITED
To the best of my knowledge and belief, there have been no contraventions of:
•

the auditor independence requirements of the Corporations Act 2001 in relation to the audit; and

•

any applicable code of professional conduct in relation to the audit.

Yours faithfully
BDO
Chartered Accountants

BG McVeigh
Partner

BDO is a national association

INCOME STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2006

NOTE

CONSOLIDATED

2006
$
Revenue from ordinary activities
Revenue from outside ordinary activities
TOTAL REVENUE

3

Cost of sales

2006
$

2005
$

834,276

1,746,572

-

-

-

-

-

1,721

834,276

1,746,572

-

1,721

(525,834)

(1,117,215)

-

-

4

(4,588,813)

(2,241,529)

(4,434,328)

(1,790.614)

Financial income

6

11,830,151

1,691,478

11,828,132

1,722,726

Financial expenses

6

(6,542, 596)

(2,909,000)

(6,542,596)

(2,909,000)

Other expenses

5

(2,645,585)

(1,688,951)

(2,585,726)

(1,515,661)

(1,638,401)

(4,518,645)

(1,734,518)

(4,490,828)

-

-

-

-

(1,638,401)

(4,518,645)

(1,734,518)

(4,490,828)

(507,300)

-

-

-

Loss for the year

(2,145,701)

(4,518,645)

(1,734,518)

(4,490,828)

Loss attributable to members of the Parent Entity

(2,145,701)

(4,518,645)

(1,734,518)

(4,490,828)

Income tax expense

8

Loss from continuing operations
Loss on sale of discontinued operation net of tax

INCOME STATEMENTS

2005
$

Personnel expense

Loss before tax

34

COMPANY

7

Basic earnings per share (cents)

25

(0.96)

(2.58)

Diluted earnings per share (cents)

25

N/A

N/A

The income statements are to be read in conjunction with the notes to the ﬁnancial statements.

BALANCE SHEETS
AS AT 30 JUNE 2006

NOTE

CONSOLIDATED

COMPANY

2006
$

2005
$

2006
$

2005
$

CURRENT ASSETS
Cash and cash equivalents

9

18,054,207

81,158,375

18,054,205

81,040,753

Trade and other receivables

10

1,372,472

1,112,872

1,372,472

788,407

Inventories

11

-

137,413

-

-

Financial assets

12

322,723

2,723

322,723

2,723

Other current assets

13

161,231

60,356

161,231

60,356

19,910,633

82,471,739

19,910,631

81,892,239

Total Current Assets

NON-CURRENT ASSETS
Trade and other receivables

14

14,323,479

1,334,824

18,989,391

6,000,736

Exploration and evaluation expenditure

15

182,914,456

63,337,525

178,248,144

58,671,213

Property, plant and equipment

17

3,873,567

1,172,798

3,873,567

1,166,756

Other ﬁnancial assets

18

26,000

26,000

26,402

26,403

201,137,502

65,871,147

201,137,504

65,865,108

221,048,135

148,342,886

221,048,135

147,757,347

Total Non-Current Assets
TOTAL ASSETS
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CURRENT LIABILITIES
Trade and other payables

19

Total Current Liabilities

16,674,415

9,548,573

16,674,415

9,374,217

16,674,415

9,548,573

16,674,415

9,374,217

NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES
Interest-bearing loans and borrowings

20

67,267,590

67,719,562

67,267,590

67,719,562

Deferred tax liabilities

22

-

11,634,000

-

11,634,000

67,267,590

79,353,562

67,267,590

79,353,562

83,942,005

88,902,135

83,942,005

88,727,779

137,106,130

59,440,751

137,106,130

59,029,568

147,153,101

69,475,651

147,153,101

69,475,651

2,907,217

773,587

2,907,217

773,587

(12,954,188)

(10,808,487)

(12,954,188)

(11,219,670)

137,106,130

59,440,751

137,106,130

59,029,568

Total Non-Current Liabilities
TOTAL LIABILITIES

NET ASSETS
EQUITY
Issued capital
Reserves
Accumulated losses

TOTAL EQUITY

The balance sheets are to be read in conjunction with the notes to the ﬁnancial statements.
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STATEMENTS OF
CASH FLOWS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2006

NOTE

CONSOLIDATED

2006
$

COMPANY

2005
$

2006
$

2005
$

CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES
834,276

1,662,547

-

-

(124,316,798)

(46,704,816)

(124,316,798)

(46,704,816)

2,219,214

1,381,092

2,217,195

1,376,554

(7,847,761)

(4,701,631)

(7,031,059)

(2,962,037)

(129,111,069)

(48,362,808)

(129,130,662)

(48,290,299)

(3,395,704)

(1,002,788)

(3,395,704)

(1,002,788)

-

(1,138,182)

-

(1,138,182)

(137,213)

-

-

-

(3,532,917)

(2,140,970)

(3,395,704)

(2,140,970)

-

75,277,383

-

75,277,383

Proceeds from borrowings

67,267,590

49,175,882

67,267,590

49,175,882

Net cash from ﬁnancing activities

67,267,590

124,453,265

67,267,590

124,453,265

(65,376,396)

73,949,487

(65,258,776)

74,021,996

81,158,375

5,330,037

81,040,753

5,139,906

2,272,228

1,878,851

2,272,228

1,878,851

18,054,207

81,158,375

18,054,205

81,040,753

Receipts from customers
Exploration and evaluation expenditure
Interest received
Payments to suppliers and employees
Net cash used in operating activities

28(A)

CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES

STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS

Payments for purchase of plant and equipment

36

Loans to other entities
Cash lost on disposal of Allied Medical Ltd

7(D)

Net cash used in investing activities

CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES
Proceeds from the issue of share capital

Net increase in cash and cash equivalents
Cash at 1 July
Effect of exchange rate changes on cash held
Cash at 30 June

9

The statements of cash ﬂows are to be read in conjunction with the notes to the ﬁnancial statements.

STATEMENTS OF
CHANGES IN EQUITY
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2006

CONSOLIDATED

ISSUED CAPITAL
$

Opening balance at 1 July 2004

ACCUMULATED
LOSSES
$

RESERVES
$

TOTAL EQUITY
$

20,355,255

(6,289,842)

-

14,065,413

Net loss for the period

-

(4,518,645)

-

(4,518,645)

Total recognised income and expense for the year

-

(4,518,645)

-

(4,518,645)

14,140,509

-

-

14,140,509

Exercise of options

8,016,405

-

-

8,016,405

Distribution to option holders

(181,800)

-

-

(181,800)

53,386,282

-

-

53,386,282

(14,607,000)

-

-

(14,607,000)

(11,634,000)

-

-

(11,634,000)

-

-

773,587

773,587

49,120,396

-

773,587

49,893,983

FORTESCUE

69,475,651

(10,808,487)

773,587

59,440,751

ANNUAL

Transactions with equity holders in their capacity as equity holders;
Issue of share capital

Convertible notes conversion to equity
Adjustment to valuation of equity component of convertible
notes
Deferred tax liability on equity portion of convertible notes
Equity settled share based payment transactions

Closing balance at 30 June 2005
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CONSOLIDATED

ISSUED CAPITAL
$

Opening balance at 1 July 2005

ACCUMULATED
LOSSES
$

RESERVES
$

TOTAL EQUITY
$

69,475,651

(10,808,487)

773,587

59,440,751

Revaluation of property, plant and equipment

-

-

879,999

879,999

Net income recognised directly in equity

-

-

879,999

879,999

Net loss for the period

-

(2,145,701)

-

(2,145.701)

Total recognised income and expense for the year

-

(2,145,701)

879,999

(1,265,702)

76,797,450

-

-

76,797,450

880,000

-

-

880,000

-

-

1,253,631

1,253,631

77,677,450

-

1,253,631

78,931,081

147,153,101

(12,954,188)

2,907,217

137,106,130

Transactions with equity holders in their capacity as equity holders;
Issue of share capital
Distribution in specie due to Allied Medical Ltd demerger
Equity settled share based payment transactions

Closing balance at 30 June 2006

Amounts are stated net of tax.
The statements of changes in equity are to be read in conjunction with the notes to the ﬁnancial statements.
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STATEMENTS OF
CHANGES IN EQUITY
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2006

COMPANY

ISSUED CAPITAL
$

Opening balance at 1 July 2004

ACCUMULATED
LOSSES
$

RESERVES
$

TOTAL EQUITY
$

20,355,255

(6,728,842)

-

13,626,413

Net loss for the period

-

(4,490,828)

-

(4,490,828)

Total recognised income and expense for the year

-

(4,490,828)

-

(4,490,828)

14,140,509

-

-

14,140,509

Exercise of options

8,016,405

-

-

8,016,405

Distribution to option holders

(181,800)

-

-

(181,800)

53,386,282

-

-

53,386,282

(14,607,000)

-

-

(14,607,000)

(11,634,000)

-

-

(11,634,000)

-

-

773,587

773,587

49,120,396

-

773,587

49,893,983

69,475,651

(11,219,670)

773,587

59,029,568

Transactions with equity holders in their capacity as equity holders;
Issue of share capital

STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS

Convertible notes conversion to equity
Adjustment to valuation of equity component of convertible
notes
Deferred tax liability on equity portion of convertible notes
Equity settled share based payment transactions

Closing balance at 30 June 2005

COMPANY

ISSUED CAPITAL
$

Opening balance at 1 July 2005

ACCUMULATED
LOSSES
$

RESERVES
$

TOTAL EQUITY
$

69,475,651

(11,219,670)

773,587

59,029,568

Revaluation of property, plant and equipment

-

-

879,999

879,999

Net income recognised directly in equity

-

-

879,999

879,999

Net loss for the period

-

(1,734,518)

-

(1,734,518)

Total recognised income and expense for the year

-

(1,734,518)

879,999

(854,519)

76,797,450

-

-

76,797,450

880,000

-

-

880,000

-

-

1,253,631

1,253,631

77,677,450

-

1,253,631

78,931,081

147,153,101

(12,954,188)

2,907,217

137,106,130

Transactions with equity holders in their capacity as equity holders;
Issue of share capital
Distribution in specie due to Allied Medical Ltd demerger
Equity settled share based payment transactions

Closing balance at 30 June 2006

Amounts are stated net of tax.
The statements of changes in equity are to be read in conjunction with the notes to the ﬁnancial statements.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2006
NOTE 1. STATEMENT OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES
The ﬁnancial report is a general purpose ﬁnancial report that
has been prepared in accordance with Australian Accounting
Standards, Urgent Issues Group Interpretations, other
authoritative pronouncements of the Australian Accounting
Standards Board and the Corporations Act 2001.
The ﬁnancial report includes separate ﬁnancial
statements for Fortescue Metals Group Ltd as an individual
parent entity (the “Company”) and the consolidated
entity consisting of Fortescue Metals Group Ltd and its
subsidiaries (“Fortescue”). Fortescue Metals Group Ltd is
a company limited by shares, incorporated and domiciled
in Australia.
The ﬁnancial report complies with all Australian
equivalents to International Financial Reporting Standards
(“AIFRS”) in their entirety.
The following is a summary of the material accounting
policies adopted by Fortescue in the preparation of the
ﬁnancial report. The accounting policies have been
consistently applied, unless otherwise stated.

BASIS OF PREPARATION
First-time Adoption of Australian Equivalents to
International Financial Reporting Standards
Fortescue and the Company have prepared ﬁnancial
statement in accordance with the Australian Equivalents
to International Financial Reporting Standards (“AIFRS”)
from 1 July 2005. In accordance with the requirements of
AASB 1: First-time Adoption of Australian Equivalents to
International Financial Reporting Standards, adjustments
to the Company and Fortescue’s accounts resulting
from the introduction of AIFRS have been applied
retrospectively to 2005 comparative ﬁgures excluding
cases where optional exemptions available under AASB
1 have been applied. These consolidated accounts are the
ﬁrst ﬁnancial statements of Fortescue to be prepared in
accordance with AIFRS.
The accounting policies set out below have been
consistently applied to all years presented. Changes in
accounting policies related to ﬁrst-time adoption of AIFRS
are disclosed in note 35.
Reconciliations of the transition from previous Australian
GAAP to AIFRS have been included in note 2 to this
report.

Reporting Basis and Conventions
The ﬁnancial report has been prepared on an accruals
basis and is based on historical costs.
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ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(a) Principles of Consolidation

A controlled entity is any entity the Company has the
power to control the ﬁnancial and operating policies of so
as to obtain beneﬁts from its activities. A list of controlled
entities is contained in note 16 to the ﬁnancial statements.
All controlled entities have a June ﬁnancial year-end.
All inter-company balances and transactions between
entities in Fortescue, including any unrealised proﬁts
or losses, have been eliminated on consolidation.
Accounting policies of subsidiaries have been changed
where necessary to ensure consistencies with those
policies applied by the Company.
Where controlled entities have entered or left Fortescue
during the year, their operating results have been
included/ excluded from the date control was obtained or
until the date control ceased.
Investments in associates are accounted for in the
consolidated ﬁnancial statements using the equity
method. Under this method, Fortescue’s share of
the post-acquisition proﬁts or losses of associates is
recognised in the consolidated income statement, and
its share of post-acquisition movements in reserves is
recognised in consolidated reserves. The cumulative
post-acquisition movements are adjusted against the
cost of the investment. Associates are those entities over
which Fortescue exercises signiﬁcant inﬂuence, but not
control.

(b) Mineral Exploration and Evaluation
Expenditure
Exploration and evaluation expenditure incurred is
accumulated in respect of each identiﬁable area of
interest. These costs are only carried forward to the
extent that they are expected to be recouped through the
successful development of the area or where activities
in the area have not yet reached a stage that permits
reasonable assessment of the existence or otherwise of
economically recoverable reserves.
Accumulated costs in relation to an abandoned area are
written off in full against proﬁt in the year in which the
decision to abandon the area is made.
When production commences, the accumulated costs
for the relevant area of interest are amortised over the
life of the area according to the rate of depletion of the
economically recoverable reserves.
A regular review is undertaken of each area of interest
to determine the appropriateness of continuing to carry
forward costs in relation to that area of interest.

(c) Segment Reporting
A business segment is a group of assets and operations
engaged in providing products or services that are
subject to risks and returns that are different to those
of other business segments. A geographical segment
is engaged in providing products or services within a
particular economic environment and is subject to risks
and returns that are different from those of segments
operating in other economic environments.

(d) Foreign Currency Transactions
The functional currency of each of Fortescue’s entities
is measured using the currency of the primary
economic environment in which that entity operates.
The consolidated ﬁnancial statements are presented in
Australian dollars which is the Company’s functional and
presentation currency.
Transactions in foreign currencies have been converted at
rates of exchange ruling on the date of those transactions.
At balance date, amounts receivable and payable in
foreign currencies are translated to Australian currency
at rates of exchange current at that date. Realised and
unrealised gains and losses are brought to account in
determining the proﬁt or loss for the ﬁnancial year.

(e) Revenue Recognition

Deferred tax assets are recognised for deductible
temporary differences and unused tax losses only if it is
probable that future taxable amounts will be available to
utilise those temporary differences and losses.
Deferred tax liabilities and assets are not recognised for
temporary differences between the carrying amount and
tax bases of investments in controlled entities where the
parent entity is able to control the timing of the reversal
of the temporary differences and it is probable that the
differences will not reverse in the foreseeable future.
Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when there
is a legally enforceable right to offset current tax assets
and liabilities and when the deferred tax balances relate
to the same taxation authority. Current tax assets and
tax liabilities are offset where the entity has a legally
enforceable right to offset and intends either to settle on
a net basis, or to realise the asset and settle the liability
simultaneously.
Current and deferred tax balances attributable to
amounts recognised directly in equity are also recognised
directly in equity.

Tax consolidation legislation
Fortescue has implemented the tax consolidation
legislation as of 1 July 2003.

(f) Income Tax

The head entity, Fortescue Metals Group Ltd, and the
controlled entities in the tax consolidated group continue
to account for their own current and deferred tax
amounts. These tax amounts are measured as if each
entity in the tax consolidated group continues to be a
stand alone taxpayer in its own right.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are recognised for
temporary differences at the tax rates expected to
apply when the assets are recovered or liabilities are
settled, based on those tax rates which are enacted or
substantively enacted for each jurisdiction. The relevant
tax rates are applied to the cumulative amounts of
deductible and taxable temporary differences to measure
the deferred tax asset or liability. An exception is made
for certain temporary differences arising from the
initial recognition of an asset or a liability. No deferred
tax asset or liability is recognised in relation to these
temporary differences if they arose in a transaction,
other than a business combination, that at the time of
the transaction did not affect either accounting proﬁt or
taxable proﬁt or loss.
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Revenue from the sale of goods and disposal of other
assets is recognised when Fortescue has passed control
of the goods or other assets to the buyer.

The income tax expense or revenue for the period is the
tax payable on the current periods taxable income based
on the notional income tax rate for each jurisdiction
adjusted by changes in deferred tax assets and liabilities
attributable to temporary differences between the tax
bases of assets and liabilities and their carrying amounts
in the ﬁnancial statements and to unused tax losses.

FORTESCUE
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In addition to its own current and deferred tax amounts,
the Company also recognises the current tax liabilities
(or assets) and the deferred tax assets arising from
unused tax losses and unused tax credits assumed from
controlled entities in the tax consolidated group.
Assets or liabilities arising under tax funding agreements
within the tax consolidated entities are recognised as
amounts receivable from or payable to other entities in
the group.
Any differences between the amounts assumed and
amounts receivable or payable under the tax funding
agreement are recognised as a contribution to (or
distribution from) wholly-owned tax consolidated entities.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2006
NOTE 1. STATEMENT OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)
(g) Leases

(k) Inventories

Leases in which a signiﬁcant portion of the risks and
rewards of ownership are retained by the lessor are
classiﬁed as operating leases. Payments made under
operating leases (net of any incentives received from
the lessor) are charged to the income statement on a
straight-line basis over the period of the lease.

Inventories are measured at the lower of cost and net
realisable value.

(h) Acquisitions of Assets
The cost method of accounting is used for all acquisitions
of assets regardless of whether shares or other assets
are acquired. Cost is determined as the fair value of
the assets given up at the date of acquisition plus costs
incidental to the acquisition. Where shares are issued
in an acquisition, the value of the shares is determined
by reference to the fair value of the assets acquired,
including goodwill where applicable.
Where settlement of any part of cash consideration
is deferred, the amounts payable in the future are
discounted to their present value at the date of
acquisition. The discount rate used is the rate at which
a similar borrowing could be obtained under comparable
terms and conditions.
Where the fair value of the identiﬁable net assets acquired,
including any liability for restructuring costs, exceeds
the cost of acquisition, the difference, representing a
discount on acquisition, is accounted for by reducing
proportionately the fair values of the non-monetary
assets acquired until the discount is eliminated.

(i) Impairment of Assets
At each reporting date, Fortescue reviews the carrying
values of its tangible and intangible assets to determine
whether there is any indication that those assets
have been impaired. If such an indication exists, the
recoverable amount of the asset, being the higher of the
asset’s fair value less costs to sell and value in use, is
compared to the asset’s carrying value. Any excess of
the asset’s carrying value over its recoverable amount is
expensed to the income statement.
Where it is not possible to estimate the recoverable
amount of an individual asset, Fortescue estimates the
recoverable amount of the cash-generating unit to which
the asset belongs.

(j) Cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents includes cash on hand, deposits
held at call with ﬁnancial institutions, other short-term,
highly liquid investments with original maturities of three
months or less that are readily convertible to known
amounts of cash and which are subject to an insigniﬁcant
risk of changes in value, and bank overdrafts.
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(l) Investments and other ﬁnancial assets

Recognition
Financial instruments are initially measured at cost
on trade date, which includes transaction costs, when
the related contractual rights and obligations exist.
Subsequent to initial recognition these instruments are
measured as set out below.
Loans and receivables
Loans and receivables are non derivative ﬁnancial assets
with ﬁxed or determinable payments that are not quoted
in an active market and are stated at amortised cost
using the effective interest rate method.
Held-to-maturity investments
These investments have ﬁxed maturities, and it is
Fortescue’s intention to hold investments to maturity.
Any held-to-maturity investments held by Fortescue are
stated at amortised cost using the effective interest rate
method.
Available-for-sale ﬁnancial assets
Available-for-sale ﬁnancial assets include any ﬁnancial
assets not included in the above categories. Availablefor-sale ﬁnancial assets are reﬂected at fair value.
Unrealised gains and losses arising from changes in fair
value are taken directly to equity.
Financial liabilities
Non-derivative ﬁnancial liabilities are recognised at
amortised cost, comprising original debt less principal
payments and amortisation.
Fair value
Fair value is determined based on current bid prices for
all quoted investments. Valuation techniques are applied
to determine the fair value for all unlisted securities,
including recent arms length transactions, reference to
similar instruments and option pricing models.
Impairment
At each reporting date, Fortescue assesses whether
there is objective evidence that a ﬁnancial instrument
has been impaired, in the case of available-for-sale
ﬁnancial instruments, a prolonged decline in the value
of the instrument is considered to determine whether
an impairment has arisen. Impairment losses are
recognised in the income statement.

(m) Fair value estimation
The fair value of ﬁnancial assets and ﬁnancial liabilities
must be estimated for recognition and measurement
or for disclosure purposes. The fair value of ﬁnancial
instruments traded in active markets (such as publicly
traded derivatives, and trading and available-for-sale
securities) is based on quoted market prices at the
balance sheet date. The quoted market price used for
ﬁnancial assets held by Fortescue is the current bid
price; the appropriate quoted market price for ﬁnancial
liabilities is the current ask price.
The fair value of ﬁnancial instruments that are not
traded in an active market (for example over-thecounter derivatives) is determined using valuation
techniques. Fortescue uses a variety of methods and
makes assumptions that are based on market conditions
existing at each balance date. Other techniques, such as
estimated discounted cash ﬂows, are used to determine
fair value for the remaining ﬁnancial instruments.

Depreciation
Land is not depreciated. Depreciation on other assets
is calculated using the straight line method to allocate
their cost or revalued amounts, net of their residual
values, over their estimated useful lives, as follows:
Buildings

25-40 years

Machinery

10-15 years

Vehicles

3-5 years

Furniture, ﬁttings and equipment

3-8 years

The assets residual values and useful lives are
reviewed, and adjusted if appropriate, at each balance
sheet date.
An assets
carrying amount is
written down
immediately to its recoverable amount if the asset’s
carrying amount is greater than its estimated
recoverable amount [note 1(i)].

The nominal value less estimated credit adjustments
of trade receivables and payables are assumed to
approximate their fair values. The fair value of ﬁnancial
liabilities for disclosure purposes is estimated by
discounting the future contractual cash ﬂows at the
current market interest rate that is available to Fortescue
for similar ﬁnancial instruments.

Gains and losses on disposals are determined by
comparing proceeds with carrying amount. These are
included in the income statement. When revalued assets
are sold, it is Fortescue’s policy to transfer the amounts
included in other reserves in respect of those assets to
retained earnings.

(n) Property, plant and equipment

(o) Trade and other payables

Each class of property, plant and equipment is carried at
cost or fair value less, where applicable, any accumulated
depreciation and impairment losses.
Assets
All property, plant and equipment is stated at
historical cost less depreciation. Historical cost
includes expenditure that is directly attributable to the
acquisition of the items.
The carrying amount of plant and equipment is reviewed
annually by Directors to ensure it is not in excess of the
recoverable amount from these assets. The recoverable
amount is assessed on the basis of the expected net cash
ﬂows that will be received from the assets employment
and subsequent disposal. The expected net cash
ﬂows have been discounted to their present value in
determining recoverable amount.
Subsequent costs are included in the assets carrying
amount or recognised as a separate asset, as appropriate,
only when it is probable that future economic beneﬁts
associated with the item will ﬂow to Fortescue and the cost
of the item can be measured reliably. All other repairs and
maintenance are charged to the income statement during
the ﬁnancial period in which they are incurred.
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These amounts represent liabilities for goods and
services provided to Fortescue prior to the end of ﬁnancial
year which are unpaid. The amounts are unsecured and
are usually paid within 30 days of recognition.

(p) Borrowings

Borrowings are initially recognised at fair value, net of
transaction costs incurred. Borrowings are subsequently
measured at amortised cost. Any difference between the
proceeds (net of transaction costs) and the redemption
amount is recognised in the income statement over the
period of the borrowings using the effective interest
method.
The fair value of the liability portion of a convertible
bond is determined using a market interest rate for
an equivalent non-convertible bond. This amount is
recorded as a liability on an amortised cost basis until
extinguished on conversion or maturity of the bonds. The
remainder of the proceeds is allocated to the conversion
option. This is recognised and included in shareholders’
equity, net of income tax effects.
Borrowings are classiﬁed as current liabilities unless
the Group has an unconditional right to defer settlement
of the liability for at least 12 months after the balance
sheet date.
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NOTE 1. STATEMENT OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)
(q) Borrowing costs
Borrowing costs incurred for the construction of any
qualifying asset are capitalised during the period of
time that is required to complete and prepare the asset
for its intended use or sale. Other borrowing costs are
expensed.

(r) Provisions
Provisions for legal claims are recognised when:
Fortescue has a present legal or constructive obligation
as a result of past events; it is more likely than not that
an outﬂow of resources will be required to settle the
obligation; and the amount has been reliably estimated.
Provisions are not recognised for future operating losses.
Where there are a number of similar obligations, the
likelihood that an outﬂow will be required in settlement
is determined by considering the class of obligations as
a whole. A provision is recognised even if the likelihood
of an outﬂow with respect to any one item included in the
same class of obligations may be small.

(s) Employee beneﬁts

(i) Wages and salaries, annual leave and sick leave
Liabilities for wages and salaries, including non-monetary
beneﬁts, annual leave and accumulating sick leave
expected to be settled within 12 months of the reporting
date are recognised in other payables and accruals
in respect of employees services up to the reporting
date and are measured at the amounts expected to be
paid when the liabilities are settled. Liabilities for nonaccumulating sick leave are recognised when the leave is
taken and measured at the rates paid or payable.
(ii) Long service leave
The liability for long service leave is recognised in the
provision for employee beneﬁts and measured as the
present value of expected future payments to be made
in respect of services provided by employees up to the
reporting date using the projected unit credit method.
Consideration is given to expected future wage and salary
levels, experience of employee departures and periods
of service. Expected future payments are discounted
using market yields at the reporting date on national
government bonds with terms to maturity and currency
that match, as closely as possible, the estimated future
cash outﬂows.
(ii) Share-based payments
Share-based compensation beneﬁts are provided to
employees via the Fortescue Metals Group Incentive
Option Scheme (“FMGIOS”).
Shares options granted before 7 November 2002 and/or
vested before 1 January 2005
No expense is recognised in respect of these options. The
shares are recognised when the options are exercised
and the proceeds received allocated to share capital.
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Shares options granted after 7 November 2002 and
vested after I January 2005
The fair value of options granted under the FMGIOS
is recognised as an employee beneﬁt expense with
a corresponding increase in equity. The fair value is
measured at grant date and recognised over the period
during which the employees become unconditionally
entitled to the options.
The fair value at grant date is independently determined
using a Black-Scholes option pricing model that takes
into account the exercise price, the term of the option,
the vesting criteria, the impact of dilution, the nontradeable nature of the option, the share price at grant
date and expected price volatility of the underlying share,
the expected dividend yield and the risk-free interest rate
for the term of the option. The fair value of the options
granted excludes the impact of any non-market vesting
conditions.
Upon the exercise of options, the balance of the reserve
relating to those options is transferred to share capital.
The market value of shares issued to employees for no
cash consideration under the employee share scheme is
recognised as a personnel expense with a corresponding
increase in equity when the employees become entitled
to the shares.

(t) Issued capital
Ordinary shares are classiﬁed as equity. Incremental costs
directly attributable to the issue of new shares or options
are shown in equity as a deduction, net of tax, from the
proceeds. Incremental costs directly attributable to the
issue of new shares or options, or for the acquisition of
a business, are included in the cost of the acquisition as
part of the purchase consideration.

(u) Dividends
Provision is made for the amount of any dividend
declared on or before the end of the ﬁnancial year but not
distributed at balance date.

(v) Earnings per share

(i) Basic earnings per share
Basic earnings per share is calculated by dividing the
proﬁt attributable to equity holders of the company,
excluding any costs of servicing equity other than
ordinary shares, by the weighted average number of
ordinary shares outstanding during the ﬁnancial year,
adjusted for bonus elements in ordinary shares issued
during the ﬁnancial year.

(ii) Diluted earnings per share
Diluted earnings per share adjusts the ﬁgures used in the determination of basic earnings per share to take into
account the after income tax effect of interest and other ﬁnancing costs associated with dilutive potential ordinary
shares and the weighted average number of shares assumed to have been issued for no consideration in relation to
dilutive potential ordinary shares.

(w) Goods and Services Tax (“GST”)
Revenues, expenses and assets are recognised net of the amount of GST, except where the amount of GST incurred
is not recoverable from the Australian Tax Ofﬁce. In these circumstances the GST is recognised as part of the cost
of acquisition of the asset or as part of an item of the expense. Receivables and payables in the balance sheet are
shown inclusive of GST.
Cash ﬂows are presented in the cash ﬂow statement on a gross basis, except for the GST component of investing and
ﬁnancing activities, which are disclosed as operating cash ﬂows.

(x) Signiﬁcant accounting judgements, estimates and assumptions
The carrying amount of certain assets and liabilities are often determined based on estimates and assumptions
of future events. In the process of applying Fortescue’s accounting policies, management has made the following
judgements, apart from those involving estimations, which have the most signiﬁcant effect on amounts recognised
in the ﬁnancial statements.
(i) Exploration and evaluation assets
Fortescue’s accounting policy for exploration and evaluation expenditure is set out at note 1(b). The application of
this policy necessarily requires management to make certain estimates and assumptions as to future events and
circumstances, in particular, the assessment of whether economic quantities of reserves have been found. Any
such estimates and assumptions may change as new information becomes available. If, after having capitalised
expenditure under our policy, we conclude that we are unlikely to recover the expenditure by future exploitation or
sale, then the relevant capitalised amount will be written off to the income statements.
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(ii) Share-based payment transactions
Fortescue measures the cost of equity-settled transactions with employees by reference to the fair value of the equity
investments at the date of which they are granted. The fair value is determined using the Black-Scholes model,
using the assumptions detailed in note 32.
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NOTE 2. IMPACTS OF ADOPTING AUSTRALIAN EQUIVALENTS TO IFRS
(i) Reconciliation of Proﬁt or Loss for the year ended 30 June 2005

NOTE

CONSOLIDATED
PREVIOUS
GAAP
$

Revenue from ordinary activities

COMPANY
AUSTRALIAN
EQUIVALENTS
TO IFRS
$

EFFECT OF
CHANGE
$

PREVIOUS
GAAP
$

AUSTRALIAN
EQUIVALENTS
TO IFRS
$

EFFECT OF
CHANGE
$

1,746,572

-

1,746,572

-

-

-

-

-

-

1,721

-

1,721

1,746,572

-

1,746,572

1,721

-

1,721

(1,117,215)

-

(1,117,215)

-

-

-

(1,467,942)

(773,587)

(2,241,529)

(1,017,027)

(773,587)

(1,790,614)

(1,688,951)

-

(1,688,951)

(1,515,661)

-

(1,515,661)

1,691,478

-

1,691,478

1,722,726

-

1,722,726

-

(2,909,000)

(2,909,000)

-

(2,909,000)

(2,909,000)

(836,058)

(3,682,587)

(4,518,645)

(808,241)

(3,682,587)

4,490,828

Income tax expense

-

-

-

-

-

-

Loss for the year

(836,058)

(3,682,587)

(4,518,645)

(808,241)

(3,682,587)

4,490,828

Revenue from outside ordinary activities

Cost of sales
Personnel expenses

F

Other expenses
Financial income
Financial expenses
Loss before tax

G

(ii) Reconciliation of Cash Flow Statement for the year ended 30 June 2005
The adoption of AIFRS did not result in any material adjustments to the cash ﬂow statement.

(iii) Reconciliation of Equity

(A) AT THE END OF THE LAST REPORTING PERIOD UNDER AGAAP: 30 JUNE 2005

NOTE

CONSOLIDATED
EFFECT OF
TRANSITION
TO AIFRS
$

PREVIOUS
GAAP
$

COMPANY
AIFRS
$

EFFECT OF
TRANSITION
TO AIFRS
$

PREVIOUS
GAAP
$

30 JUNE 2005

AIFRS
$

30 JUNE 2005

CURRENT ASSETS
Cash and cash equivalents

81,158,375

-

81,158,375

81,040,753

-

81,040,753

Trade and other receivables

1,112,872

-

1,112,872

788,407

-

788,407

137,413

-

137,413

-

-

-

2,723

-

2,723

2,723

-

2,723

Other current assets

60,356

-

60,356

60,356

-

60,356

Total Current Assets

82,471,739

-

82,471,739

81,892,239

-

81,892,239

1,334,824

-

1,334,824

6,000,736

-

6,000,736

63,337,525

-

63,337,525

58,671,213

-

58,671,213

1,172,798

-

1,172,798

1,166,756

-

1,166,756

26,000

-

26,000

26,403

-

26,403

65,871,147

-

65,871,147

65,865,108

-

65,865,108

148,342,886

-

148,342,886

147,757,347

-

147,757,347

9,305,527

-

9,305,527

9,139,879

-

9,139,879

243,046

-

243,046

234,338

-

234,338

9,548,573

-

9,548,573

9,374,217

-

9,374,217

Inventories
Financial assets

NON-CURRENT ASSETS
Trade and other receivables
Exploration and evaluation expenditure
Property, plant and equipment
Other ﬁnancial assets
Total Non-Current Assets

Total Assets
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CURRENT LIABILITIES
Trade and other payables
Provisions
Total Current Liabilities

NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES
Deferred Tax

B

-

11,634,000

11,634,000

-

11,634,000

11,634,000

Convertible Notes

A

50,203,562

17,516,000

67,719,562

50,203,562

17,516,000

67,719,562

50,203,562

29,150,000

79,353,562

50,203,562

29,150,000

79,353,562

Total Liabilities

59,752,135

29,150,000

88,902,135

59,577,779

29,150,000

88,727,779

NET ASSETS

88,590,751

(29,150,000)

59,440,751

88,179,568

(29,150,000)

59,029,568

Total Non-Current Liabilities

EQUITY
Issued capital

C

95,716,651

(26,241,000)

69,475,651

95,716,651

(26,241,000)

69,475,651

Reserves

D

-

773,587

773,587

-

773,587

773,587

Accumulated losses

E

(7,125,900)

(3,682,587)

(10,808,487)

(7,537,083)

(3,682,587)

(11,219,670)

88,590,751

(29,150,000)

59,440,751

88,179,568

(29,150,000)

59,029,568

TOTAL EQUITY
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NOTE 2. IMPACTS OF ADOPTING AUSTRALIAN EQUIVALENTS TO IFRS CONTINUED
(iii) Reconciliation of Equity

(B) AT THE END OF TRANSITION TO IFRS: 1 JULY 2004
NOTE
PREVIOUS
GAAP
$

EFFECT OF
TRANSITION
TO AIFRS
$

COMPANY
AIFRS
$

EFFECT OF
TRANSITION
TO AIFRS
$

PREVIOUS
GAAP
$

AIFRS
$

CURRENT ASSETS
Cash and cash equivalents

5,330,037

-

5,330,037

5,139,904

-

5,139,904

Trade and other receivables

461,181

-

461,181

225,886

-

225,886

Inventories

135,583

-

135,583

-

-

-

Financial assets

2,723

-

2,723

2,723

-

2,723

Other Current Assets

3,384

-

3,384

-

-

-

Total Current Assets

5,932,908

-

5,932,908

5,368,513

-

5,368,513

196,642

-

196,642

4,797,162

-

4,797,162

10,420,932

-

10,420,932

5,820,012

-

5,820,012

453,560

-

453,560

433,825

-

433,825

26,000

-

26,000

26,403

-

26,403

Total Non-Current Assets

11,097,134

-

11,097,134

11,077,134

-

11,077,134

Total Assets

17,030,042

-

17,030,042

16,445,915

-

16,445,915

2,878,671

-

2,878,671

2,736,793

-

2,736,793

85,959

-

85,959

82,709

-

82,709

Total Current Liabilities

2,964,630

-

2,964,630

2,819,502

-

2,819,502

Total Liabilities

2,964,630

-

2,964,630

2,819,502

-

2,819,502

NET ASSETS

14,065,412

-

14,065,412

13,626,413

-

13,626,413

Issued capital

20,355,255

-

20,355,255

20,355,255

-

20,355,255

Accumulated losses

(6,289,843)

-

(6,289,843)

(6,728,842)

-

(6,728,842)

14,065,412

-

14,065,412

13,626,413

-

13,626,413

NON-CURRENT ASSETS
Non-current receivables
Exploration and evaluation expenditure
Property, plant and equipment
Other ﬁnancial assets

CURRENT LIABILITIES
Trade and other payables
Provisions

EQUITY

TOTAL EQUITY
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NOTES TO THE RECONCILIATIONS OF EQUITY AND PROFIT AND LOSS
AT 1 JULY 2004 AND 30 JUNE 2005
30 JUNE 2005
a) Convertible notes comprise: Adjustment to valuation of Debt component of

1 JULY 2004

17,516,000

-

17,516,000

-

11,634,000

-

11,634,000

-

(14,607,000)

-

Deferred tax liability on equity portion of convertible notes

(11,634,000)

-

Total

(26,241,000)

-

d) Reserves comprise: Share based payments reserve relating employee option plan

773,587

-

Total

773,587

-

(2,909,000)

-

(773,587)

-

(3,682,587)

-

773,587

-

773,587

-

2,909,000

-

2,909,000

-

Convertible Notes under AASB 132 and AASB 139
Total
b) Deferred tax liabilities comprise: Deferred tax liability on equity portion of
convertible notes
Total
c) Contributed equity comprise: Adjustment to valuation of equity component of
Convertible Notes under AASB 132 and AASB 139

e) Accumulated losses comprise: Interest Expense on Convertible Notes
Share based payments expense relating to employee option plan
Total
f) General and administration expense comprise: Share based payments expense
relating to employee option plan
Total
g) Other expenses from ordinary activities comprise: Interest Expense on
Convertible Notes
Total
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NOTE 3. REVENUE
CONSOLIDATED

2006
$

2005
$

2006
$

2005
$

REVENUE FROM ORDINARY ACTIVITIES
834,276

1,746,572

-

-

Management Fees

-

-

-

1,675

Other Income

-

-

-
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834,276

1,746,572

-

1,721

Sales Revenue

REVENUE FROM OUTSIDE ORDINARY
ACTIVITIES

Total Revenue

NOTE 4. PERSONNEL EXPENSES
CONSOLIDATED

2006
$

COMPANY

2005
$

2006
$

2005
$

2,169,747

690,042

2,494,956

319,395

Other associated personnel expenses

344,269

620,813

338,824

546,003

Increase in liability for annual leave

371,166

157,087

346,917

151,629

1,253,631

773,587

1,253,631

773,587

4,588,813

2,241,529

4,434,328

1,790,614

Wages and salaries, including superannuation

Equity-settled transactions

NOTE 5. OTHER EXPENSES
CONSOLIDATED

2006
$

COMPANY

2005
$

2006
$

2005
$

Communication costs

268,224

225,114

248,427

138,269

Ofﬁce rent

366,942

302,725

345,504

252,142

Depreciation

709,897

279,393

708,762

272,009

Travel costs

598,511

193,938

585,765

155,975

Insurance

295,420

153,798

294,731

143,581

ASX fees

66,174

116,547

66,174

116,547

-

300,000

-

300,000

340,397

117,436

336,363

137,138

2,645,585

1,688,951

2,585,726

1,515,661

Export market development costs
Other
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NOTE 6. NET FINANCING COSTS
CONSOLIDATED

2006
$

COMPANY

2005
$

2006
$

2005
$

Interest income

2,219,214

1,381,360

2,217,195

1,376,508

Interest revenue on close out of convertible notes

9,451,596

-

9,451,596

-

159,341

310,118

159,341

346,218

Financial income

11,830,151

1,691,478

11,828,132

1,722,726

Interest expense - convertible notes

(6,542,596)

(2,909,000)

(6,542,596)

(2,909,000)

Financial expenses

(6,542,596)

(2,909,000)

(6,542,596)

(2,909,000)

Net Financing Costs

5,287,555

1,217,522

5,285,536

1,186,274

Net foreign exchange gain

NOTE 7. DISCONTINUED OPERATION
(a) Description

At the Company’s Annual General Meeting held on
8 November 2005 members approved the demerger
of Allied Medical Limited through an “in specie”
distribution of shares in Allied Medical Limited
shares to Fortescue shareholders as at the record
date of 23 November 2005.

(b) Financial performance and cash ﬂow
information
The ﬁnancial performance and cash ﬂow information
of Allied Medical Limited presented are for the ﬁve
months ended 30 November 2005 and the year ended
30 June 2005.
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Financial information relating to the discontinued
operation for the period to the date of demerger is set
out below.
PERIOD ENDED
30 NOVEMBER 2005
$

30 JUNE 2005
$

834,276

1,713,603

(738,160)

(1,741,420)

96,116

(27,817)

-

-

96,116

(27,817)

(507,300)

-

-

-

Proﬁt/(Loss) on demerger of the subsidiary

(507,300)

-

Proﬁt/(Loss) from discontinued operations

(411,184)

(27,817)

Net cash inﬂow/(outﬂow) from ordinary activities

19,593

(72,509)

Net cash inﬂow/(outﬂow) from investing activities

-

-

Net cash inﬂow/(outﬂow) from ﬁnancing activities

-

-

Net increase in cash generated by the subsidiary

19,593

(72,509)

Revenue
Expenses
Proﬁt/(Loss) before income tax
Income tax expense
Proﬁt/(Loss) after income tax of discontinued operations
Proﬁt/(Loss) on demerger of the subsidiary before income tax
Income tax expense

The net cashﬂows of the discontinuing operation which have been incorporated
into the statement of cash ﬂows are as follows:
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NOTE 7. DISCONTINUED OPERATION (CONTINUED)
(c) Carrying amounts of assets and liabilities
The carrying amounts of assets and liabilities as at 30 November 2005 and 30 June 2005
PERIOD ENDED
30 NOVEMBER 2005
Cash assets

137,213

117,620

Trade receivables

376,553

318,266

Other receivables

(75)

6,199

58,937

137,413

4,907

6,042

577,535

585,540

Trade creditors

37,278

165,648

Provision for employee beneﬁts

32,957

8,708

Total liabilities

70,235

174,356

NET ASSETS

507,300

411,184

Inventories
Property, plant and equipment
Total assets

d) Details of the demerger of the division
YEAR ENDED
30 JUNE 2006

30 JUNE 2005

Consideration received or receivable:
Cash

-

-

Total disposable consideration

-

-

Carrying amount of net non-cash assets sold

(370,087)

-

Net cash lost on disposal

(137,213)

-

Loss on sale before income tax

(507,300)

-

-

-

(507,300)

-

Income tax expense

Loss on sale after income tax
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30 JUNE 2005

NOTE 8. INCOME TAX
CONSOLIDATED

2006
$

COMPANY

2005
$

2006
$

2005
$

a) The components of tax expense comprise:
Current tax income

(32,721,293)

(9,016,875)

(32,739,045)

(8,993,081)

Deferred tax income

31,855,675

7,883,025

31,844,592

7,867,575

(102,402)

-

(102,402)

-

968,020

1,133,850

996,855

1,125,506

-

-

-

-

Beneﬁt of prior year capital losses recouped in the
current year
Tax losses recognised - current year

b) The prima facie income tax, using rates applicable in the country of operation, on loss from ordinary activities differs from the income
tax provided in the ﬁnancial report as follows:
Loss before tax - continuing operations

(1,734,518)

(4,518,645)

(1,734,518)

(4,490,828)

(411,183)

-

-

-

(2,145,701)

(4,518,645)

(1,734,518)

(4,490,828)

(643,710)

(1,355,594)

(520,355)

(1,347,249)

47,411

(10,332)

47,411

(10,332)

376,089

232,076

376,089

232,076

(900,000)

-

(900,000)

-

Accounting loss on sale of operations

152,190

-

-

-

Taxable gain on sale of operations

102,402

-

102,402

-

Deferred Tax Asset on temporary differences and
tax losses not brought to account at balance date as
realisation is not regarded as probable

968,020

1,133,850

996,855

1,125,505

(102,402)

-

(102,402)

-

-

-

-

-

Current tax

-

-

-

-

Deferred tax (Note 22)

-

11,634,000

-

11,634,000

-

11,634,000

-

11,634,000

Loss before tax - discontinuing operations
Loss before tax
Income tax expense calculated at 30% (2005: 30%)
Sundry non-deductible/(deductible) expenses
Share based payments
Research and development

Beneﬁt of prior year capital losses recouped in the
current year
Income tax expense for the year
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c) Amount recognised directly in equity:

d) Deferred Tax Asset not brought to account in the ﬁnancial report as follows:
Tax losses – revenue

16,162,550

12,994,307

20,828,463

17,660,220

Tax losses – capital

44,521,290

44,862,630

44,521,290

44,862,630

60,683,840

57,856,937

65,349,753

62,522,850

18,205,152

17,357,081

19,604,926

18,756,855

Tax effect at 30%

The Deferred Tax Asset not brought to account for the 2006 year will only be obtained if:
(a) Fortescue derives assessable income of a nature and of an amount sufﬁcient to enable the beneﬁt to be realised;
(b) Fortescue continues to comply with the conditions for deductibility imposed by tax legislation; and
(c) Fortescue is able to meet the continuity of ownership and/or continuity of business tests.
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NOTE 9. CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS - CURRENT
CONSOLIDATED

2006
$

COMPANY

2005
$

2006
$

Cash on hand

5,064

602

5,062

600

Cash at bank

18,049,143

3,388,738

18,049,143

3,271,118

-

77,769,035

-

77,769,035

18,054,207

81,158,375

18,054,205

81,040,753

Deposits at call

NOTE 10. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES – CURRENT
CONSOLIDATED

2006
$
Trade receivables
GST receivables

COMPANY

2005
$

2006
$

2005
$

-

1,128,990

-

788,407

1,360,141

-

1,360,141

-

12,331

-

12,331

-

-

(16,118)

-

-

1,372,472

1,112,872

1,372,472

788,407

Other receivables
Less: provision for doubtful debts

NOTE 11. INVENTORIES – CURRENT
CONSOLIDATED

2006
$

2005
$
-

At cost

COMPANY

2006
$

2005
$
-

137,413

-

NOTE 12. FINANCIAL ASSETS – CURRENT
CONSOLIDATED

2006
$
Listed investments at fair value
Trust accounts
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2005
$

COMPANY

2005
$

2006
$

2005
$

2,723

2,723

2,723

2,723

320,000

-

320,000

-

322,723

2,723

322,723

2,723

NOTE 13. OTHER CURRENT ASSETS
CONSOLIDATED

2006
$
Prepayments

COMPANY

2005
$

161,231

2006
$
60,356

2005
$

161,231

60,356

NOTE 14. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES – NON-CURRENT
CONSOLIDATED

2006
$

COMPANY

2005
$

2006
$

2005
$

Loan receivable

2,401,778

1,334,824

2,401,778

1,334,824

Security deposits

6,210,737

-

6,210,737

-

Term deposits

5,710,964

-

5,710,964

-

-

-

4,665,912

4,665,912

14,323,479

1,334,824

18,989,391

6,000,736

Loans and advances – controlled entities
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NOTE 15. EXPLORATION AND EVALUATION EXPENDITURE
CONSOLIDATED

2006
$
Carrying amount at beginning of year
Expenditure outlaid in cash
Expenditure non-cash
Carrying amount at end of year

COMPANY

2005
$

2006
$

2005
$

63,337,525

10,420,932

58,671,213

5,820,012

119,576,931

52,832,580

119,576,931

52,767,188

-

84,013

-

84,013

182,914,456

63,337,525

178,248,144

58,671,213

The ultimate recoupment of costs carried forward for exploration assets is dependent on the successful development
and commercial exploitation or sale of the respective areas.
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NOTE 16. CONSOLIDATED ENTITIES
EQUITY HOLDING

COMPANY

PLACE OF
INCORPORATION

2006
%

2005
%

2006
$

2005
$

PARENT ENTITY
-

Fortescue Metals Group Ltd

Australia

-

-

-

-

CONTROLLED ENTITIES
Allied Medical Ltd

Ordinary

Australia

-

100

-

1

The Pilbara Infrastructure Pty Ltd

Ordinary

Australia

100

100

1

1

FMG Resources Pty Ltd

Ordinary

Australia

100

100

400

400

FMG Pilbara Pty Ltd

Ordinary

Australia

100

100

1

1

FMG Chichester Pty Ltd

Ordinary

Australia

100

100

-

-

FMG Finance Pty Ltd*

Ordinary

Australia

100

-

-

-

402

403

*FMG Finance Pty Ltd is a 100% subsidiary of FMG Pilbara Pty Ltd

NOTE 17. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT
CONSOLIDATED

2006
$
Land and buildings – at cost
Accumulated depreciation

Plant and ofﬁce equipment – at cost
Accumulated depreciation

Motor vehicles – at cost
Accumulated depreciation

Total property, plant and equipment

56

CLASS OF
SHARE

COST TO COMPANY

COMPANY

2005
$

2006
$

2005
$

315,939

114,915

315,939

114,915

(852)

-

(852)

-

315,087

114,915

315,087

114,915

4,612,250

1,417,569

4,612,250

1,397,701

(1,056,372)

(365,948)

(1,056,372)

(352,122)

3,555,878

1,051,621

3,555,878

1,045,579

6,958

6,958

6,958

6,958

(4,356)

(696)

(4,356)

(696)

2,602

6,262

2,602

6,262

3,873,567

1,172,798

3,873,567

1,166,756

Reconciliation of movements in carrying amounts
CONSOLIDATED

2006
$

COMPANY

2005
$

2006
$

2005
$

Land and Buildings
Carrying amount at beginning of year

114,915

-

114,915

-

Additions

201,024

114,915

201,024

114,915

(852)

-

(852)

-

315,087

114,915

315,087

114,915

Carrying amount at beginning of year

1,051,621

440,712

1,045,579

433,825

Additions

3,214,549

978,040

3,214,549

965,059

-

(1,183)

-

(1,183)

(4,907)

-

-

-

(705,385)

(365,948)

(704,250)

(352,122)

3,555,878

1,051,621

3,555,878

1,045,579

6,262

12,848

6,262

-

FORTESCUE

Additions

-

6,958

-

6,958

ANNUAL

Disposals

-

(12,848)

-

-

(3,660)

(696)

(3,660)

(696)

2,602

6,262

2,602

6,262

Depreciation
Carrying amount at end of year

Plant and equipment

Disposal
Demerger of Allied Medical Ltd assets
Depreciation
Carrying amount at end of year

Motor vehicles
Carrying amount at beginning of year

Depreciation
Carrying amount at end of year

METALS GROUP LTD
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NOTE 18. FINANCIAL ASSETS – NON-CURRENT
CONSOLIDATED

2006
$
Unquoted investments – at cost
Shares in controlled entities

COMPANY

2005
$

2006
$

2005
$

26,000

26,000

26,000

26,000

-

-

402

403

26,000

26,000

26,402

26,403

Financial assets are available-for-sale assets.
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NOTE 19. TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES – CURRENT
CONSOLIDATED

2006
$
Trade payables
Other payables and accruals

COMPANY

2005
$

2006
$

2005
$

-

4,161,765

-

4,041,314

16,674,415

5,386,808

16,674,415

5,332,903

16,674,415

9,548,573

16,674,415

9,374,217

NOTE 20. INTEREST BEARING LOANS AND BORROWINGS
CONSOLIDATED

2006
$
Syndicated loan – secured #

COMPANY

2005
$

67,267,590

Convertible notes - unsecured

2006
$

2005
$

67,267,590
67,719,562

67,267,590

67,719,562

67,719,562
67,267,590

67,719,562

Convertible Notes
During the year ended 30 June 2006 the Company exercised its option to convert the convertible notes into ordinary shares
in the Company. The number of shares issued was 19,863,533.
The convertible notes are presented in the balance sheets as follows:

CONSOLIDATED

2006
$

COMPANY

2005
$

2006
$

2005
$

Face value of notes issued

-

103,589,844

-

103,589,844

Classiﬁed as equity securities

-

(35,870,282)

-

(35,870,282)

-

67,719,562

-

67,719,562

Syndicated Loan
The Company put in place during the current ﬁnancial year a US$200 million syndicated loan note facility with institutional
investors. The facility was put in place to ensure the rapid development of its Pilbara Iron Ore and Infrastructure Project is
maintained without compromising its capital raising process.
The key terms and conditions of the facility are:
• The facility term is 2 years subject to a review after 12 months;
• Pricing is based on a competitive margin over LIBOR; and
• (#) The facility is secured over Fortescue’s total assets per the consolidated balance sheet.
The Company has drawn down US$50 million as at 30 June 2006.
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NOTE 21. EMPLOYEES
CONSOLIDATED

2006
$
Average number of employees during the ﬁnancial

COMPANY

2005
$
171

year

2006
$
85

2005
$
171

81

Note 32 provides details of employee beneﬁts related to share based payments.

NOTE 22. DEFERRED TAX LIABILITIES – NON-CURRENT
CONSOLIDATED

2006
$

COMPANY

2005
$

2006
$

2005
$

The balance comprises temporary differences
attributable to :
Amounts recognised to proﬁt or loss

-

-

-

-

Equity component of convertible notes

-

11,634,000

-

11,634,000

-

11,634,000

-

11,634,000

Charged to equity
Balance at end of year

METALS GROUP LTD

ANNUAL

REPORT

Movements in equity component of convertible
notes:
Balance at beginning of year

FORTESCUE

11,634,000

-

11,634,000

-

(11,634,000)

11,634,000

(11,634,000)

11,634,000

-

11,634,000

-

11,634,000

2006
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NOTE 23. ISSUED CAPITAL
A reconciliation of the movement in capital and reserves for the Company and the consolidated entity can be found in the
Statement of Changes in Equity.

SHARE CAPITAL

NUMBER OF SHARES
2006

NUMBER OF SHARES
2005

Ordinary shares fully paid:
Balance at beginning of ﬁnancial year

217,822,928

124,298,108

Conversion of options at 8 cents

-

69,580,000

Conversion of options at 20 cents

-

1,000,000

Conversion of options at 50 cents

-

1,000,000

Conversion of options at 75 cents

-

1,000,000

Conversion of options at $1.00

-

1,000,000

Issue of shares at 55 cents

-

12,898,470

Issue of shares at $1

-

7,046,350

3,000

-

Conversion of convertible notes at $4.50

8,985,644

-

Conversion of convertible notes at $6.00

10,877,888

-

237,689,460

217,822,928

Equity-settled transactions

Balance at end of ﬁnancial year

Fully paid ordinary shares entitle the holder to participate in dividends and to one vote per share at meetings of the Company.
Ordinary shares participate in the proceeds on winding up of the Company in proportion to the number of shares held.
Effective 1 July 1998, the Company Law Review Act abolished the concept of par value shares and the concept of authorised
capital. Accordingly, the Company does not have authorised capital or par value in respect of its issued shares.

NOTE 24. RESERVES
(a) The share based payments reserve
The share based payments reserve records items recognised as expenses on valuation of employee share options.

(b) Asset revaluation reserve
The asset revaluation reserve records revaluations of non-current assets. Under certain circumstances dividends can be
declared from this reserve.
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NOTE 25. EARNINGS PER SHARE
Basic earnings per share
The calculation of basic earnings per share at 30 June 2006 was based on the loss attributable to ordinary
shareholders of $2,145,701 (2005: loss $4,518,645) and a weighted average number of ordinary shares
outstanding during the ﬁnancial year ended 30 June 2006 of 223,451,812 (2005: 175,236,990), calculated
as follows:
CONSOLIDATED
2006
$
Loss attributable to ordinary shareholders
Weighted average number of ordinary shares used in the calculation of basic
earnings per share

2005
$

(2,145,701)

(4,518,645)

223,451,812

175,236,990

(0.96)

(2.58)

Basic earnings per share (in cents)

Diluted earnings per share
The Company’s potential ordinary shares, being its options granted, are not considered dilutive as the
conversion to these options would result in a decrease in the net loss per share.

Earnings per share for continuing and discontinued operations

FORTESCUE

METALS GROUP LTD

BASIC EARNINGS PER SHARE

ANNUAL

CONSOLIDATED
2006
$

REPORT

2006

2005
$

From continuing operations (in cents)

(0.78)

(2.56)

From discontinuing operations (in cents)

(0.18)

(0.02)

For the ﬁnancial year ended 30 June 2006, earnings per share for continuing and discontinued operations
has been calculated using the same ﬁgures as earnings per share, except that the loss for the period used
in the calculation is the loss relating to continuing operations of $1,734,518 (2005: loss $4,463,011) and the
loss relating to discontinued operations of $411,184 (2005: loss $27,817).
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NOTE 26. SEGMENT REPORTING
Segment information is presented in respect of Fortescue’s business and geographical segments. The primary format,
business segments, is based on Fortescue’s management and internal reporting structure.
Segment results, assets and liabilities include items directly attributable to a segment as well as those that can be allocated
on a reasonable basis. Unallocated items comprise mainly income earning assets and revenue, interest-bearing loans,
borrowings and expenses, and corporate assets and expenses.

PRIMARY REPORTING
Business Segments
Fortescue has the following two business segments:
• Development of the Pilbara Iron Ore and Infrastructure Project; and
• Marketing and distribution of medical products throughout Australia and New Zealand. This business was demerged
in November 2005.

2006
$

2005
$

2006
$

ELIMINATIONS

2005
$

2006
$

2005
$

REVENUE FROM EXTERNAL CUSTOMERS
Sales

-

-

834,276

1,746,572

-

-

Services

-

1,721

-

-

-

(1,721)

Total revenue

-

1,721

834,276

1,746,572

-

(1,721)

Segment result

(7,020,054)

(3,304,554)

94,098

3,431

-

-

Loss before ﬁnancing costs

(7,020,054)

(3,304,554)

94,098

3,431

-

-

5,285,536

(1,186,274)

2,019

(31,248)

-

-

Income tax expense

-

-

-

-

-

-

Loss on sale of discontinued operation, net
of tax

-

-

(507,300)

-

-

-

(1,734,518)

(4,490,828)

(411,183)

(27,817)

-

-

Segment assets

221,048,537

147,757,750

-

585,540

(402)

(404)

Total assets

221,048,537

147,757,750

-

585,540

(402)

(404)

Segment liabilities

83,942,005

88,727,779

-

174,356

-

-

Total liabilities

83,942,005

88,727,779

-

174,356

-

-

Cash ﬂows from operating activities

(129,130,662)

(48,290,299)

19,593

(72,509)

-

-

Cash ﬂows from investing activities

(3,532,917)

(2,140,970)

-

-

-

-

Cash ﬂows from investing activities

67,267,590

124,453,265

-

-

-

-

122,992,504

54,003,525

-

12,981

-

-

Net ﬁnancing income/(costs)

Proﬁt for the period

Capital expenditure
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MEDICAL
(DISCONTINUED)

MINING AND EXPLORATION

SECONDARY REPORTING
Geographical Segments
Fortescue operated predominantly in the geographical location of Australia.

LESS : MEDICAL
(DISCONTINUED)

CONSOLIDATED
2006
$

CONSOLIDATED
(CONTINUING OPERATIONS)

2005
$

2006
$

2005
$

2006
$

2005
$

834,276

1,746,572

(834,276)

(1,746,572)

-

-

FORTESCUE

-

-

-

-

-

-

ANNUAL

834,276

1,746,572

(834,276)

(1,746,572)

-

-

(6,925,956)

(3,301,123)

(94,098)

(3,431)

(7,020,054)

(3,304,554)

(6,925,956)

(3,301,123)

(94,098)

(3,431)

(7,020,054)

(3,304,554)

5,287,555

(1,217,522)

(2,019)

31,248

5,285,536

(1,186,274)

-

-

-

-

-

-

(507,300)

-

507,300

-

-

-

(2,145,701)

(4,518,645)

411,183

27,817

(1,734,518)

(4,490,828)

221,048,135

148,342,886

-

(585,540)

221,048,135

147,757,347

221,048,135

148,342,886

-

(585,540)

221,048,135

147,757,347

83,942,005

88,902,135

-

(174,356)

83,942,005

88,727,779

83,942,005

88,902,135

-

(174,356)

83,942,005

88,727,779

(129,111,069)

(48,362,808)

(19,593)

72,509

(129,130,662)

(48,290,299)

(3,532,917)

(2,140,970)

-

-

(3,532,917)

(2,140,970)

67,267,590

124,453,265

-

-

67,267,590

124,453,265

122,992,504

54,016,506

-

(12,981)

122,992,504

54,003,525

METALS GROUP LTD
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NOTE 27. AUDITORS REMUNERATION
Amounts received or due and receivable by auditors for:
CONSOLIDATED
2006
$
Auditing – the ﬁnancial report

COMPANY

2005
$

2006
$

2005
$

56,715

40,514

56,715

32,564

Financial due diligence

107,261

-

107,261

-

Total

163,976

40,514

163,976

32,564

NOTE 28(A). RECONCILIATION OF CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES
CONSOLIDATED

COMPANY

2006
$

2005
$

2006
$

2005
$

(2,145,701)

(4,518,645)

(1,734,518)

(4,490,828)

713,334

279,393

712,199

272,009

-

4,157

-

-

367,731

157,087

343,482

151,629

1,253,631

773,587

1,253,631

773,587

(2,909,000)

2,909,000

(2,909,000)

2,909,000

(119,576,931)

(52,832,580)

(119,576,931)

(52,832,580)

(159,341)

(851,170)

(159,341)

(851,170)

(122,456,277)

(54,079,171)

(122,070,478)

(54,068,353)

Increase/(decrease) in payables

6,805,042

6,426,856

6,933,412

6,400,599

(Increase)/decrease in ﬁnancial assets

(320,000)

-

(320,000)

-

(13,725,609)

(708,663)

(13,673,596)

(622,545)

78,476

(1,830)

-

-

(129,618,369)

(48,362,808)

(129,130,662)

(48,290,299)

507,299

-

-

-

(129,111,069)

(48,362,808)

(129,130,662)

(48,290,299)

Loss for the period
Depreciation
Loss on sale of assets
Provision – employee entitlements
Equity-settled share based payment expenses
Interest expense
Exploration expenditure capitalised
Net unrealised gain on foreign exchange
Operating proﬁt before changes in working capital
Changes in assets and liabilities during the year:

(Increase)/decrease in receivables and prepayments
(Increase)/decrease in inventory

Loss on sale of discontinued operations, net of tax

Net cash used in operating activities

NOTE 28(B). NON-CASH FINANCING AND INVESTING ACTIVITIES
In the year ended 30 June 2005 - 46,355 shares at $1.00 each and 50,288 shares at 55 cents each to various suppliers
in payment for services.
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NOTE 29. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
(a) Credit Risk Exposures
The carrying amount of ﬁnancial assets recorded in the
ﬁnancial statements, net of any provisions for losses,
represents Fortescue’s maximum exposure to credit risk
without taking account of the value of any collateral or
other security obtained.

Credit risk refers to the risk that the counterparty will
default on its contractual obligations resulting in ﬁnancial
loss to Fortescue. Fortescue has adopted the policy of only
dealing with credit worthy counterparties and obtaining
sufﬁcient collateral or other security where appropriate,
as a means of mitigating the risk of ﬁnancial loss from
defaults. Fortescue measures credit risk on a fair value
basis.

(b) Interest Rate Risk
Effective interest rates and repricing analysis
In respect of income-earning ﬁnancial assets and interestbearing ﬁnancial liabilities, the following table indicates
their effective interest rates at the balance sheet date and
the periods in which they reprice.

Fortescue does not have any signiﬁcant credit risk exposure
to any single counterparty or any group of counterparties
having similar characteristics.

2006 CONSOLIDATED

NOTE

EFFECTIVE
INTEREST
RATE
%

6 MONTHS
OR LESS
$

6-12
MONTHS
$

NON
INTEREST
BEARING

1-2 YEARS
$

TOTAL

Cash and cash equivalents

9

3.95

18,049,143

-

-

5,064

18,054,207

Other receivables

10

-

-

-

-

1,372,472

1,372,472

Listed shares

12

-

-

-

-

2,723

2,723

Prepayments

13

-

-

-

-

161,231

161,231

Loan receivable

14

-

-

-

-

2,401,778

2,401,778

FORTESCUE

Security deposits

14

-

-

-

-

6,210,737

6,210,737

ANNUAL

Term deposits

14

3.95

-

-

5,710,964

-

5,710,964

Trust accounts

12

-

-

-

-

320,000

320,000

Unquoted investments

18

-

-

-

-

26,000

26,000

Trade and other payables

19

-

-

-

-

(16,674,415)

(16,674,415)

Syndicated loan

20

9.96

-

-

(67,267,590)

-

(67,267,590)

-

18,049,143

-

(61,556,626)

(6,174,410)

(49,681,893)

1-2 YEARS
$

NON
INTEREST
BEARING

METALS GROUP LTD

2006 COMPANY

NOTE

EFFECTIVE
INTEREST
RATE
%

6 MONTHS
OR LESS
$

6-12
MONTHS
$
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TOTAL

Cash and cash equivalents

9

3.95

18,049,143

-

-

5,062

18,054,205

Other receivables

10

-

-

-

-

1,372,472

1,372,472

Listed shares

12

-

-

-

-

2,723

2,723

Prepayments

13

-

-

-

-

161,231

161,231

Loan receivable

14

-

-

-

-

2,401,778

2,401,778

Security deposits

14

-

-

-

-

6,210,737

6,210,737

Term deposits

14

3.95

-

-

5,710,964

-

5,710,964

Loans and advances-controlled entities

14

-

-

-

-

4,665,912

4,665,912

Trust accounts

12

-

-

-

-

320,000

320,000

Unquoted investments

18

-

-

-

-

26,000

26,000

Trade and other payables

19

-

-

-

-

(16,674,415)

(16,674,415)

Syndicated loan

20

9.96

-

-

(67,267,590)

-

(67,267,590)

-

18,049,143

-

(61,556,626)

(1,508,500)

(45,015,983)
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NOTE 29. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED)
2005 CONSOLIDATED

NOTE

EFFECTIVE
INTEREST
RATE
%

6 MONTHS
OR LESS
$

6-12
MONTHS
$

NON
INTEREST
BEARING

1-2 YEARS
$

TOTAL

Cash and cash equivalents

9

4.23

3,388,738

77,769,035

-

602

81,158,375

Trade receivables

10

-

-

-

-

1,112,872

1,112,872

Inventories

11

-

-

-

-

137,413

137,413

Listed shares

12

-

-

-

-

2,723

2,723

Prepayments

13

-

-

-

-

60,356

60,356

Loan receivable

14

-

-

-

-

1,334,824

1,334,824

Unquoted investments

18

-

-

-

-

26,000

26,000

Trade and other payables

19

-

-

-

-

(9,548,573)

(9,548,573)

Convertible notes

20

-

-

-

-

(50,203,562)

(50,203,562)

-

3,388,738

77,769,035

-

(57,077,345)

24,080,428

2005 COMPANY

NOTE

EFFECTIVE
INTEREST
RATE
%

6 MONTHS
OR LESS
$

6-12
MONTHS
$

NON
INTEREST
BEARING

1-2 YEARS
$

TOTAL

Cash and cash equivalents

9

4.23

3,271,118

77,769,035

-

600

81,040,753

Trade receivables

10

-

-

-

-

788,407

788,407

Listed shares

12

-

-

-

-

2,723

2,723

Prepayments

13

-

-

-

-

60,356

60,356

Loan receivable

14

-

-

-

-

1,334,824

1,334,824

Loans and advances–controlled entities

14

-

-

-

-

4,665,912

4,665,912

Unquoted investments

18

-

-

-

-

26,000

26,000

Trade and other payables

19

-

-

-

-

(9,374,217)

(9,374,217)

Convertible notes

20

-

-

-

-

(50,203,562)

(50,203,562)

-

3,271,118

77,769,035

-

(52,698,957)

28,341,196

Convertible notes on issue during the ﬁnancial year did not bear interest during the period.

(c) Net Fair Value
The carrying amount of ﬁnancial assets and ﬁnancial liabilities recorded in the ﬁnancial statements represents their
respective net fair values, determined in accordance with the accounting policies disclosed in note 1 to the ﬁnancial
statements.

(d) Foreign Currency Risk
Fortescue is exposed to foreign currency risk on cash held, foreign currency loans and exploration and evaluation
expenditure. The currency giving rise to this risk is primarily US dollars. Fortescue has not entered into any forward
foreign exchange contracts as at 30 June 2006 and is currently fully exposed to foreign exchange risk.
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NOTE 30. COMMITMENTS
a) Leasing Commitments
CONSOLIDATED

OPERATING LEASES
Less than one year
Between one and ﬁve years
Greater than ﬁve years

2006
$

COMPANY

2005
$

2006
$

2005
$

965,273

335,734

965,273

335,734

2,814,202

283,844

2,814,202

283,844

276,966

-

276,966

-

3,779,475

619,578

3,779,475

619,578

The property lease regarding Fortescue’s previous headquarters at 50 Kings Park Road, West Perth, expires on 1 February
2014, with a ﬁve year ﬁrst term of renewal at 1 February 2013. Contingent rental provisions within the lease agreement
require the minimum lease payments to be reviewed every two years from the commencement date.
The property lease regarding Fortescue’s current headquarters at 87 Adelaide Terrace, East Perth, expires on 1 April 2010,
with a ﬁve year option term of renewal commencing 1 April 2010. Contingent rental provisions within the lease agreement
require the minimum lease payments to be reviewed annually from the commencement date.

FORTESCUE

METALS GROUP LTD

(b) Exploration Tenement Leases – Commitments for Expenditure.
In order to maintain current rights of tenure to exploration tenements, Fortescue is required to outlay lease rentals and to
meet the minimum expenditure requirements of $7,650,440 over the next ﬁnancial year (2005 $1,393,844).

ANNUAL

REPORT

2006

Financial commitments for subsequent periods are contingent upon future exploration results and can not be estimated.
These obligations are subject to renegotiation upon expiry of the exploration leases or when application for a mining
licence is made and have not been provided for in the accounts.

(c) Project Commitments
Commitments exist in relation to the project for up to $43,281,584 (2005: $2,400,000) over the next ﬁnancial year, being the
minimum commitment of the Company and the consolidated entity should the project not go forward.
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NOTE 31. KEY MANAGEMENT PERSONNEL DISCLOSURES
The following were key management personnel of Fortescue at any time during the reporting period and
unless otherwise indicated were key management personnel for the entire period:

DIRECTORS

The following persons were Directors of the Company during the ﬁnancial year:

Chairman – Non-Executive
Mr Gordon Toll

Executive Directors
Mr Andrew Forrest, Chief Executive Ofﬁcer
Mr Graeme Rowley, Executive Director Operations
Mr Russell Scrimshaw, Executive Director Commercial

Non-Executive Directors
Mr Herb Elliott
Mr Ken Ambrecht

KEY MANAGEMENT PERSONNEL
Mr Alan Watling, Head of Infrastructure
Mr Peter Thomas, Chief Financial Ofﬁcer – The Pilbara Infrastructure Pty Ltd
Dr John Clout, Head of Resource Strategy
Mr Christopher Catlow, Chief Financial Ofﬁcer
Mr Julian Tapp, Head of Government Relations
Mr Bill Ramsey, Project Director

KEY MANAGEMENT PERSONNEL COMPENSATION
The key management personnel compensation included in ‘personnel expenses’ (see note 4) are as follows:
CONSOLIDATED

Short-term employee beneﬁts
Other long term beneﬁts
Post-employment beneﬁts
Termination beneﬁts
Equity compensation beneﬁts

COMPANY

2006
$

2005
$

2006
$

2005
$

2,509,284

1,049,726

2,509,284

1,049,726

-

-

-

-

217,825

98,022

217,825

98,022

-

-

-

-

448,362

236,464

448,362

236,464

3,175,471

1,384,212

3,175,471

1,384,212

The Company has taken advantage of the relief provided by ASIC Class Order 06/50 and has transferred the
Detailed Remuneration Disclosures to the Directors’ Report. The relevant information can be found in the
Remuneration Report.
Balances above are recognised on a gross basis. Personnel expenses disclosed in note 4 are recognised net
of salary recoveries.
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NOTE 31. KEY MANAGEMENT PERSONNEL DISCLOSURES (CONTINUED)
Individual Directors and Executives compensation
disclosures

Option over equity instruments granted as
compensation

Information regarding individual Directors and Executives
compensation is provided in the Remuneration Report
section of the Directors’ Report.

The movement during the reporting period in the number of
options over ordinary shares in the Company held directly,
indirectly or beneﬁcially, by each key management person,
including their related parties is as follows.

Apart from the details disclosed in this note, no Director
has entered into a material contract with the Company
or Fortescue since the end of the previous ﬁnancial year
and there were no material contracts involving Directors’
interests existing at year-end.

2006

KEY MANAGEMENT PERSONNEL

Held at
1July 2005

Granted as

compensation

Other
changes
during the
year

Exercised

Balance
at 30 June
2006

Vested
during the
year

Vested and
exercisable
at the end
of the year

A Watling

200,000

-

-

-

200,000

50,000

50,000

P Thomas

190,000

25,000

-

-

215,000

47,500

47,500

J Clout

150,000

30,000

-

-

180,000

37,500

37,500

-

100,000

-

-

100,000

-

-

100,000

40,000

-

-

140,000

25,000

25,000

FORTESCUE

-

100,000

-

-

100,000

-

-

ANNUAL

640,000

295,000

-

-

935,000

160,000

160,000

C Catlow
J Tapp
B Ramsey

No Directors held options during the ﬁnancial year.
No options held by key management personnel are vested but not exercisable

METALS GROUP LTD

REPORT

2006

2005

DIRECTORS

G Toll

Held at
1 July 2004

compensation

Granted as

Other
changes
during the
year

Exercised

Balance
at 30 June
2005

Vested
during the
year

Vested and
exercisable
at the end
of the year

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

750,000

-

(750,000)

-

-

750,000

-

A Forrest

69,555,000

-

(67,850,000)

(1,705,000)

-

69,555,000

-

G Rowley

-

-

(1,000,000)

1,000,000

-

-

-

R Scrimshaw

750,000

-

(750,000)

-

-

750,000

-

K Ambrecht

750,000

-

(750,000)

-

-

750,000

-

A Watling

-

200,000

-

-

200,000

-

-

P Thomas

-

190,000

-

-

190,000

-

-

J Clout

-

150,000

-

-

150,000

-

-

C Catlow

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

J Tapp

-

100,000

-

-

100,000

-

-

B Ramsey

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

71,805,00

640,000

(71,100,000)

(705,000)

640,000

71,805,000

-

H Elliott

OTHER KEY MANAGEMENT PERSONNEL

69

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2006
NOTE 31. KEY MANAGEMENT PERSONNEL DISCLOSURES (CONTINUED)
Movements in Shares
The movement during the reporting period in the number of ordinary shares in the Company held directly, inadvertently
or beneﬁcially, by each key management person, including their related parties, are set out below.

2006 ORDINARY SHARES
DIRECTORS

Received on
exercise of
options

Held at 1 July
2005

Purchases

Held at 30 June
2006

Sales

A Forrest

102,674,330

-

-

(366,500)

102,307,830

G Rowley

2,149,569

-

-

(2,000)

2,147,569

800,000

-

-

(250,000)

550,000

1,077,600

-

-

-

1,077,600

K Ambrecht

750,000

-

-

-

750,000

G Toll

750,000

-

-

-

750,000

Total

108,201,499

-

-

(618,500)

107,582,999

A Watling

-

-

-

-

-

P Thomas

110,000

-

-

(15,000)

95,000

5,000

-

70

(2,000)

3,070

800,000

-

-

-

800,000

J Tapp

-

-

-

-

-

B Ramsey

-

-

22,000

-

22,000

915,000

-

22,070

(17,000)

920,070

H Elliott
R Scrimshaw

OTHER KEY MANAGEMENT PERSONNEL

J Clout
C Catlow

Total

2005 ORDINARY SHARES
DIRECTORS

Received on
exercise of
options

Held at 1 July
2004

Purchases

Held at 30 June
2005

Sales

A Forrest

39,602,665

67,850,000

397,335

(5,175,670)

102,674,330

G Rowley

1,359,569

1,000,000

-

(210,000)

2,149,569

50,000

750,000

100,000

(100,000)

800,000

327,600

750,000

-

-

1,077,600

K Ambrecht

-

750,000

-

-

750,000

G Toll

-

-

750,000

-

750,000

Total

41,339,834

71,100,000

1,247,335

(5,485,670)

108,201,499

A Watling

-

-

-

-

-

P Thomas

-

-

120,000

(10,000)

110,000

J Clout

-

-

15,000

(10,000)

5,000

800,000

-

-

-

800,000

J Tapp

-

-

-

-

-

B Ramsey

-

-

-

-

-

800,000

-

135,000

(20,000)

915,000

H Elliott
R Scrimshaw

OTHER KEY MANAGEMENT PERSONNEL

C Catlow
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NOTE 31. KEY MANAGEMENT PERSONNEL DISCLOSURES (CONTINUED)
OTHER RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS
Subsidiaries
Loans are made by the Company to wholly owned subsidiaries for capital purchases. Loans outstanding between the
Company and its controlled entities have no ﬁxed date of repayment and are non-interest bearing. During the ﬁnancial
year ended 30 June 2006, such loans to subsidiaries totalled $4,665,912 (2005: $4,665,912). These loans have been
recognised as non-current receivables.
During the 2005 ﬁnancial year, a subsidiary FMG Pilbara Pty Ltd loaned $608,506 (2005: $608,506) to another subsidiary
FMG Chichester Pty Ltd. The loan is interest free and has no ﬁxed date of repayment.

NOTE 32. SHARE BASED PAYMENTS
Shareholders approved the implementation of the Fortescue Metals Group Incentive Option Scheme (“FMGIOS”) at the
2005 AGM. The FMGOIS entitles key management personnel and senior employees to purchase shares in the Company.
In accordance with these programmes options are exercisable at the market price of the shares at the date of grant.
The terms and conditions of the grants are as follows, whereby all options are settled by physical delivery of shares:

GRANT DATE / EMPLOYEE ENTITLED

NUMBER OF
INSTRUMENTS

Option grant to key management in June 2005

CONTRACTUAL LIFE OF
OPTIONS

VESTING CONDITIONS

2,000,000

Four years of service

5 years

Option grant to key management in January 2006

430,000

Four years of service

5 years

Option grant to key management in June 2006

500,000

Four years of service

5 years

Total share options

2,930,000

FORTESCUE

METALS GROUP LTD

ANNUAL

REPORT

2006

The number and weighted average exercise prices of share options is as follows:
WEIGHTED
AVERAGE
EXERCISE PRICE
2006

Outstanding at the beginning of the period

WEIGHTED
AVERAGE
EXERCISE PRICE
2005

NUMBER
OF OPTIONS
2006

NUMBER
OF OPTIONS
2005

$2.67

2,000,000

$0.09

56,970,000

Forfeited during the period

-

-

-

-

Exercised during the period

-

-

$0.09

(56,970,000)

Granted during the period

$6.41

930,000

$2.67

2,000,000

Outstanding at the end of the period

$3.86

2,930,000

$2.67

2,000,000

Exercisable at the end of the period

$2.67

500,000

-

-

The options outstanding at 30 June 2006 have an exercise price in the range of $2.67 to $7.03 and a weighted average
contractual life of 5 years.
The fair value of services received in return for share options granted are measured by reference to the fair value of
share options granted. The estimate of the fair value of the services received is measured based on the Black-Scholes
model. The contractual life of the option is used as an input into this model.
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NOTE 32. SHARE BASED PAYMENTS (CONTINUED)
The following factors and assumptions were used in determining the fair value of options on grant date:

GRANT DATE

EXPIRY DATE

FAIR
VALUE PER
OPTION

EXERCISE
PRICE

PRICE OF
SHARES
ON GRANT
DATE

EXPECTED
VOLATILITY

RISK FREE
INTEREST
RATE

DIVIDEND
YIELD

28 November 2003

28 November 2006

$0.30

$0.50

$0.50

26.40%

5.75%

-

28 November 2003

28 November 2006

$0.26

$0.75

$0.50

26.40%

5.75%

-

28 November 2003

28 November 2006

$0.23

$1.00

$0.50

26.40%

5.75%

-

1 June 2005

31 December 2009

$1.97

$2.67

$2.67

26.40%

5.75%

-

25 January 2006

25 January 2011

$4.60

$5.69

$6.15

26.80%

5.13%

-

1 June 2006

1 June 2011

$5.79

$7.03

$7.68

26.80%

5.75%

-

Employee expenses
CONSOLIDATED
NOTE

2006
$

COMPANY

2005
$

2006
$

2005
$

Share options granted in 2005- equity settled

4

982,580

773,587

982,580

773,587

Share options granted in 2006- equity settled

4

271,051

-

271,051

-

1,253,631

773,587

1,253,631

773,587

Total expense recognised as employee costs

NOTE 33. CONTINGENT LIABILITIES AND CONTINGENT ASSETS
CONTINGENT LIABILITY
ASIC Proceedings
The Australian Securities and Investment Commission (“ASIC”) intends to commence legal proceedings against
Fortescue and its Chief Executive Ofﬁcer in relation to market disclosure of certain agreements signed by the
Company in 2004. The agreement in question relates to those signed with China Railway Engineering Corporation
(“CREC”), China Harbour Engineering Corporation (“CHEC”) and China Metallurgical Construction Corporation
(“MCC”).
The ASIC statement of claim alleges a breach by the Company and by the Chief Executive Ofﬁcer of the continuous
disclosure provisions of the Corporations Act under Section 674 and also a breach under Section 1041H relating
to deceptive and misleading conduct. ASIC is seeking civil penalties of up to $3,000,000 for the Company and
$600,000 for the Chief Executive Ofﬁcer and an order that he compensate Fortescue for any pecuniary penalty it
may be required to pay.
Both the Company and the Chief Executive Ofﬁcer, Mr Andrew Forrest will vigorously contest the charges.

CONTINGENT ASSET
Payroll tax assessment
A payroll tax assessment for the amount of $1,495,989 was received from the State Revenue Department relating
to options issued to The Metals Group Pty Ltd in 2003. The Company has lodged an objection to this assessment
on the grounds that these options are not wages for payroll tax purposes under the deﬁnitions of the Payroll Tax
Assessment Act 2002.
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NOTE 34. AFTER BALANCE DATE EVENTS
(i) Capital raising
On 15 July 2006 Leucadia National Corporation signed a Subscription Agreement to invest US$400 million in Fortescue.
Leucadia will receive 26.4 million shares in the Company and US$100 million of Secured Subordinated Loan Notes upon
ﬁnancial close, which occurs when US$2 billion of secured debt and lease facilities have been established. The Notes have
a 13 year term, a zero ﬁxed interest rate and a variable interest rate equal to 4% of the revenue, net of government royalties
received from the sale of iron ore from Cloud Break and Christmas Creek.

(ii) Syndicated loan
The Company has drawn down an additional US$100 million subsequent to year end.
Other than the matters discussed above, there has not arisen in the interval between the end of the ﬁnancial year and the
date of this report any item, transaction or event of a material and unusual nature likely, in the opinion of the Directors of
the Company, to affect signiﬁcantly the operations of the Company, the results of those operations or the state of affairs of
the Company in future ﬁnancial years.

NOTE 35. CHANGE IN ACCOUNTING POLICY
The following Australian Accounting Standards have been issued or amended and are applicable to the parent and economic
entity but are not yet effective. They have not been adopted in preparation of the ﬁnancial statements at reporting date.

AASB
AMENDMENT

AASB STANDARD AFFECTED

NATURE OF CHANGE IN
ACCOUNTING POLICY AND IMPACT

APPLICATION
DATE OF THE
STANDARD

APPLICATION
DATE FOR THE
GROUP

AASB 1: First-time Adoption of AIFRS

No change, no impact

1 January 2006

1 July 2006

FORTESCUE

AASB 101: Presentation of Financial Statements

No change, no impact

1 January 2006

1 July 2006

ANNUAL

AASB 124: Related Party Disclosures

No change, no impact

1 January 2006

1 July 2006

2005–1

AASB 139: Financial Instruments: Recognition and
Measurement

No change, no impact

1 January 2006

1 July 2006

2005–5

AASB 1: First-time Adoption of AIFRS

No change, no impact

1 January 2006

1 July 2006

AASB 139: Financial Instruments: Recognition and
Measurement

No change, no impact

1 January 2006

1 July 2006

2005–6

AASB 3: Business Combinations

No change, no impact

1 January 2006

1 July 2006

2005–9

AASB 132: Financial Instruments: Recognition and
Measurement

No change, no impact

1 January 2006

1 July 2006

AASB 139: Financial Instruments: Disclosure and
Presentation

Fortescue is in the process of
evaluating the effect of these changes
of which the impact is not reasonably
estimable at the date of this ﬁnancial
report.

1 January 2006

1 July 2006

AASB 139: Financial Instruments: Recognition and
Measurement

No change, no impact

1 January 2007

1 July 2007

AASB 101: Presentation of Financial Statements

No change, no impact

1 January 2007

1 July 2007

AASB 114: Segment Reporting

No change, no impact

1 January 2007

1 July 2007

AASB 117: Leases

No change, no impact

1 January 2007

1 July 2007

AASB 133: Earnings per share

No change, no impact

1 January 2007

1 July 2007

AASB 132: Financial Instruments: Disclosure and
Presentation

No change, no impact

1 January 2007

1 July 2007

AASB 1: First-time Adoption of AIFRS

No change, no impact

1 January 2007

1 July 2007

AASB 4: Insurance Contracts

No change, no impact

1 January 2007

1 July 2007

AASB 1023: General Insurance Contracts

No change, no impact

1 January 2007

1 July 2007

AASB 1038: Life Insurance Contracts

No change, no impact

1 January 2007

1 July 2007

2006–1

AASB 121: The Effects of Changes in Foreign
Exchange Rates

No change, no impact

1 January 2006

1 July 2006

New Standard

AASB 7: Financial Instruments: Disclosure

No change, no impact

1 January 2007

1 July 2007

New Standard

AASB 119: Employee Beneﬁts: December 2004

No change, no impact

1 January 2006

1 July 2006

2004–3

2005–10
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NOTE 35. CHANGE IN ACCOUNTING POLICY (CONTINUED)
AASB
AMENDMENT

AASB STANDARD AFFECTED

2005–2

AASB 1023: General Insurance Contracts

2005–4

AASB 139: Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement
AASB 132: Financial Instruments: Disclosure and Presentation

2005–9

AASB 4: Insurance Contracts
AASB 1023: General Insurance Contracts
AASB 139: Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement
AASB 132: Financial Instruments: Disclosure and Presentation

All other pending Standards issued between
the previous ﬁnancial report and the current
reporting dates have no application to either the
parent or economic entity.

DIRECTORS’
DECLARATION
FORTESCUE METALS GROUP LTD AND ITS CONTROLLED ENTITIES
ACN 002 594 872

1. In the opinion of the Directors of Fortescue Metals Group Ltd (‘the Company’):
(a) the ﬁnancial statements and notes including the remuneration disclosures that are
contained in the Remuneration report in the Directors’ report, set out on pages 18 to 25,
are in accordance with the Corporations Act 2001, including:
(i) giving a true and fair view of the ﬁnancial position of the Company and the
consolidated entity as at 30 June 2006 and of their performance, as represented
by the results of their operations and their cash ﬂows, for the ﬁnancial year ended
on that date; and
(ii) complying with Australian Accounting Standards and the Corporations
Regulations 2001; and
(b) the remuneration disclosures that are contained in the Remuneration report in
the Directors’ Report comply with Australian Accounting Standard AASB 124 Related
Party Disclosures and ASIC Class Order 06/105 Calculation of Director and Executive
Remuneration/Corporations Act 2001

FORTESCUE

METALS GROUP LTD

(c) there are reasonable grounds to believe that the Company will be able to pay its debts
as and when they become due and payable.
2. The Directors have been given the declarations by the Chief Executive Ofﬁcer and Chief Financial
Ofﬁcer for the ﬁnancial year ended 30 June 2006 pursuant to Section 295A of the Corporations Act 2001.
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Dated at Perth this 18th day of July 2006.
Signed in accordance with a resolution of the Directors:

Mr Gordon Toll
Chairman

75

Level 8, 256 St George’s Terrace Perth WA 6000
PO Box 7426 Cloisters Square Perth WA 6850
Tel: (61-8) 9360 4200
Fax: (61-8) 9481 2524
Email: bdo@bdowa.com.au
www.bdo.com.au

INDEPENDENT AUDIT REPORT TO THE MEMBERS OF
FORTESCUE METALS GROUP LIMITED
Scope
The Financial Report and Directors’ Responsibility
The financial report comprises the balance sheet, income statement, cash flow statement, statement of
changes in equity, accompanying notes to the financial statements, and the directors’ declaration for
both Fortescue Metals Group Limited (the company) and the consolidated entity, for the year ended 30
June 2006. The consolidated entity comprises both the company and the entities it controlled during
that year.
The company has disclosed information about the compensation of key management personnel
(“compensation disclosures”), as required by Accounting Standard AASB 124 Related Party
Disclosures, under the heading “Remuneration Report” in pages 8 to 14 of the directors’ report, as
permitted by the Corporations Regulations 2001.
The directors of the company are responsible for the preparation and true and fair presentation of the
financial report in accordance with the Corporations Act 2001. This includes responsibility for the
maintenance of adequate accounting records and internal controls that are designed to prevent and
detect fraud and error, and for the accounting policies and accounting estimates inherent in the
financial report. The directors are also responsible for the compensation disclosures contained in the
directors’ report.
Audit Approach
We have conducted an independent audit in order to express an opinion to the members of the
company. Our audit was conducted in accordance with Australian Auditing Standards in order to
provide reasonable assurance as to whether the financial report is free of material misstatement and the
compensation disclosures comply with AASB 124 and the Corporations Regulations 2001. The nature
of an audit is influenced by factors such as the use of professional judgment, selective testing, the
inherent limitations of internal control, and the availability of persuasive rather than conclusive
evidence. Therefore, an audit cannot guarantee that all material misstatements have been detected.
We performed procedures to assess whether in all material respects the financial report presents fairly,
in accordance with the Corporations Act 2001, including compliance with Accounting Standards and
other mandatory financial reporting requirements in Australia, a view which is consistent with our
understanding of the company’s and the consolidated entity’s financial position, and of their
performance as represented by the results of their operations and cash flows and whether the
compensation disclosures comply with Accounting Standard AASB 124 and the Corporations
Regulations 2001.
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We formed our audit opinion on the basis of these procedures, which included:
•
•

examining, on a test basis, information to provide evidence supporting the amounts and
disclosures in the financial report and compensation disclosures, and
assessing the appropriateness of the accounting policies and disclosures used and the
reasonableness of significant accounting estimates made by the directors.

While we considered the effectiveness of management’s internal controls over financial reporting
when determining the nature and extent of our procedures, our audit was not designed to provide
assurance on internal controls.
Independence
In conducting our audit, we followed applicable independence requirements of Australian
professional ethical pronouncements and the Corporations Act 2001.
The independence declaration given to the directors in accordance with section 307C would be in the
same terms if it had been given at the date of this report.
Audit Opinion
In our opinion:
(1)

the financial report of Fortescue Metals Group Limited is in accordance with:
(a)

(b)
(2)

the Corporations Act 2001, including:
(i)

giving a true and fair view of the company’s and consolidated entity’s
financial position as at 30 June 2006 and of its performance for the year
ended on that date; and

(ii)

complying with Accounting Standards in Australia and the Corporations
Regulations 2001; and

other mandatory financial reporting requirements in Australia; and

the compensation disclosures that are contained in pages 8 to 14 of the directors’ report
comply with Accounting Standard AASB 124 and the Corporations Regulations 2001.

BDO
Chartered Accountants

BG McVeigh
Partner
Dated this 18th day of July 2006
Perth, Western Australia

ADDITIONAL STOCK
EXCHANGE INFORMATION
Additional information required by the Australian Stock Exchange Limited Listing Rules and not disclosed else where in this
report as follows. The information is made up to 18 October 2006.

STATEMENT OF SHAREHOLDINGS

ADDITIONAL STOCK EXCHANGE INFORMATION

(a) Ordinary shares - Fully Paid

NAMES OF THE 20 LARGEST SHAREHOLDERS
1

The Metal Group Pty Ltd

2

NUMBER OF SHARES

% HELD

102,307,830

38.72

Citicorp Nominees Pty Limited

42,764,777

16.19

3

Baldwin Enterprises Inc

26,400,000

9.99

4

Emichrome Pty Ltd

13,466,831

5.10

5

HSBC Custody Nominees (Australia) Limited – GSCO ECSA

11,037,469

4.18

6

JP Morgan Nominees Australia Limited

10,471,809

3.96

7

National Nominees Limited

10,287,188

3.89

8

Westpac Custodian Nominees Limited

9,531,561

3.61

9

Jiansu Fengli Group Co Ltd

5,898,921

2.23

10

HSBC Custody Nominees (Australia) Limited – GSI ECSA

2,721,403

1.03

11

Mr William Graeme Rowley

2,095,569

0.78

12

ANZ Nominees Limited – Cash Income Account

1,491,038

0.56

13

El Aura Pty Ltd

1,212,000

0.46

14

WWB Investments Pty Ltd

1,147,840

0.43

15

John Cunningham & Associates Pty Limited

1,010,000

0.38

16

Mr Christopher James Catlow

800,000

0.30

17

Kale Capital Corporation Ltd

763,230

0.29

18

Ms Judith Mary Street

615,000

0.23

19

Mr Warren William Brown & Mrs Marilyn Helena Brown

600,000

0.23

20

Pan Australian Nominees Pty Limited

572,226

0.22

HOLDING RANGE
1 – 1,000

NUMBER OF HOLDERS
1,050

1,001 – 5,000

712

5,001 – 10,000

213

10,001 – 100,000

211

100,001 – 9,999,999,999
Total

56
2,242

VOTING RIGHTS
All ordinary fully paid shares carry one vote per share without restrictions
Total Fully Paid Shares Issues
Proportion held by 20 Largest Shareholders
Number of Shareholders holding less than a marketable parcel
There is no current on market buy back.
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264,224,410
92.77%
55

(b) Options
Full details of the options on issue are given in the Directors Report.

(c) Substancial Shareholders
The names of those shareholders with a substantial shareholding in the Company at 10 October 2006 are;

RELEVANT INTEREST IN
SHARES
The Metal Group Pty Ltd

% HELD

102,307,830

38.72

Harbert Management Corp and its afﬁliates

48,434,106

18.33

Citicorp Nominess Pty Ltd

42,764,777

16.19

Baldwin Enterprises Inc

26,400,000

9.99

Emichrome Pty Ltd and its afﬁliates

13,800,000

5.2
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